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ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

OVERVIEW 

Cel lFro ,  Incorpora ted  ("CellPro" o r  " t h e  Company") has developed a 
unique monoclonal antibody-based system t h a t  can be used t o  s e p a r a t e  s p e c i f i c  
c e l l s  from ccap lex  c e l l  mixtures  f o r  use i n  a  wide range of t h e r a p e u t i c ,  
d iagnos t ic  and research  a p p l i c a t i o n s .  The Cei lPro technoioqy s e l e c t s  c e l l s  i n  a 
continuous flow system by using a  high a f f i n i t y  a v l d i n - b i o t i n  b ind ing  process .  
As a r e s u l t ,  i t  combines high l e v e l s  of throughput w i t h  a high degree of  
s e l e c t i v i t y .  Cn December 6, 1996, t h e  U.S. Food and Drug Adminis t ra t ion  ( t h e  
"FDA") approved C e l l P r o ' s  CEPRATE(R) SC Stem C e l l  Concent ra t ion  System ( t h e  
"CEPRATE(R) SC System") f o r  use i n  autologous bone marrow t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n .  The 
Company is  c u r r e n t l y  developing numerous a d d i t i o n a l  a p p l i c a t i o n s  f o r  t h e  
CEPRATE(R) SC System, inc lud ing  use a s  an adjunct  t o  o t h e r  cancer  t rea tments ,  
gene therapy and use i n  support  of t reatment  of d e b i l i t a t i n g  autoimmune d i s e a s e s  
such a s  mul t ip le  s c l e r o s i s ,  l apus ,  and rheumatoid a r t h r i t i s .  In  a d d i t i o n  t o  stem 
c e l l  s e l e c t i o n ,  t h e  Company i s  developing o t h e r  new c e l l  the rapy  a p p l i c a t i o n s  
f o r  t h i s  technology, i n c l u d i n g  T-lymphocyte t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n  and e x  v ivo  
T-lymphocyte adopt ive  immunotherapy f o r  cancer .  The Company is c u r r e n t l y  s e l l i n g  
the  CEPRATE(R) SC System i n  most European c o u n t r i e s ,  Canada and i n  c e r t a i n  
Asia-Pacif ic  and La t in  American c o u n t r i e s .  The CEPRATE(R) SC System was approved 
f o r  s a l e  i n  t h e  18-nat ion European Economic Area i n  J u l y ,  1995. I n  February 
1997, a  new produc t ,  t h e  CEPRATE ( R )  TCD T-cel l  Deplet ion System ( t h e  "CEPRATE (R) 
TCD System"), ;i.as approved f o r  commercial s a l e  i n  t h e  European Economic Area. 

C e l l  s e l e c t i o n  p l a y s  an i n c r e a s i n g l y  important  r o l e  i n  a v a r i e t y  of 
medical a p p l i c a t i o n s .  C e l l u l a r  t h e r a p i e s ,  i n  which p u r i f i e d  c e l l  popula t ions  
obtained from t i s s u e s  such a s  bone marrow o r  blood a r e  used t o  t r e a t  a v a r i e t y  
of d i seases ,  tepend on t h e  c o l l e c t i o n  of s p e c i f i c  t a r g e t  c e l l s ,  o r  t h e  removal 
of p a r t i c u l a r  c e l l u l a r  contaminants, from a  mixture of  c e l l s .  A s i g n i f i c a n t  
app l ica t ion  o f  c e l l u l a r  therapy  i s  stem c e l l  t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n ,  which is 
increas ing ly  being used t o  t r e a t  p a t i e n t s  with c e r t a i n  forms of cancer .  Stem 
c e l l s  give r i s e  t o  most o f  t h e  o t h e r  c e l l s  i n  t h e  marrow and u l t i m a t e l y  t h e  
blood, and t h e  Company b e l i e v e s  t h a t  these  c e l l s ,  which r e p r e s e n t  approximately 
one percent  of  t h e  c e l l s  i n  marrow, a r e  t h e  o n l y  c e l l s  r e q u i r e d  f o r  s u c c e s s f u l  
t r a n s p l a c t a t i o n .  Transp lan ta t ion  of c e r t a i n  o t h e r  c e l l s  a long w i t h  s tem c e l l s  
can cause harmful s i d e  e f f e c t s  o r  d i l u t e  t h e r a p e u t i c  b e n e f i t s .  For example, t h e  
marrow of many cancer  p a t i e n t s  con ta ins  tumor c e l l s ,  which, i f  t r a n s p l a n t e d  back 
i n t o  t h e  p a t i e n t ,  may c o n t r i b u t e  t o  a  re lapse  of  t h e  c a n c e r .  A l t e r n a t i v e l y ,  
donated bone marrow c o n t a i n s  c e l l s  whlch may cause a  L i fe - th rea ten ing  immune 
reac t ion  i n  a- a i l o g e n e i c  t r a n s p l a n t  r e c i p i e n t .  C e l l P r o ' s  CEPRATEtR) SC System 
is designed t o  provide a supply of p u r i f i e d  stem c e l l s  t h a t  can be used i n  
c e l l u l a r  t h e r a p i e s  whi le  reducing t h e  problems f r e q u e n t l y  experienced wi th  
cur ren t  t r a n s p l a n t a r i o n  techniques.  

The Company completed i ts  i n i t i a l  Phase 111 c l i n i c a l  t r i a l  i n  1993 i n  
which stem c e i l s  p u r i f i e d  from bone marrow wi th  t h e  Company's CEPRATE(R1 SC 
System were t r a n s p l a n t e d  i n t o  p a t i e n t s  with advanced b r e a s t  cancer .  Data 
gathered dur ing  t h e  Phase 111 c l i n i c a l  t r i a l  demonstrated s u c c e s s f u l  engraftment 
of t h e  t r a n s p i a n t e d  c e l l s .  I t  a l s o  i n d i c a t e d  s i g n i f i c a n t  decreases  i n  t h e  
in fus iona l  t o x i c i t y  normally a s s o c i a t e d  with bone marrow t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n .  

The Company has  completed a second Phase 111 c l i n i c a l  t r i a l  t o  
demonstrate t h a t  t h e  CEPRATE(R1 SC System can p o s i t i v e l y  s e l e c t  s tem c e l l s  from 
per iphera l  blood of p a t i e n t s  r e s u l t i n g  i n  s i g n i f i c a n t  d e p l e t i o n  o f  tumor c e l l s  
f o r  the  requ i red  t r a n s p i a n t .  The t r i a l  was conducted i n  m u l t i p l e  myeloma 
p a t i e n t s  undergoing p e r i p h e r a l  blood stem c e l l  ("PBSC") t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n  t o  
r e s t o r e  t h e i r  -arrow w i t h  hematopoiet ic  (blood-forming) s tem c e l l s  following 
myeloablative (narrow- k i l l i n g )  chemotherapy. The s u c c e s s f u l  r e s u l t s  from t h i s  
t r i a l  were ar .~ounced i n  June 1997, with t h e  estirr.ated f i l i n g  of  t h e  pre-market 
approval (?MA) a p p l i c a t i o n  with t h e  FDA scheduled f o r  f a l l  1997. 



Tn October 1996, tke Company began a Phase 1/11 clinicai triai with 'he 

CEPRATE(R) TCD System. ?his aevice will be use0 with Cel1Pro's current producr, 

the CEPWTE(R) SC System, to reduce the number of T-lympnocytes i n  donor-derived 
peripheral blood stem cells for allogeneic transplantation to children wizh 

leukemia. The goai of the trlal is to evaluate the.proportion of patients with 

successful engraftment of donor stem ceils ana the proportion of patien~s who 

deveiop graft-versus-host aisease, an often fatal side effect of allogeneic 

transpiants. 


The administration of purified stem cells, in conjunction with growth 

factors, may allow cancer patients to receive intensified doses of chemotherapy, 

an approach which is increasingly being used by physicians to treat certain 

cancers. CellPro has begun clinical trials in the U.S. and Germany to test the 

use of the CEPRATE(R) SC System for this potential application. 


In addition to their present and potential usefulness in cellular 

therapy, stem cells are critical to the success of many forms of gene therapy. 

The goal of gene therapy is Zo produce a permanent genetic alteration, which can 

only be accomplished if the gene is inserted into self-renewing cells such as 

stem cells. CellPro is participating in several clinical trials which 

concentrate stem cells for gene therapy in patients with certain cancers, 

genetic disorders and AIDS. 


CellPro's cellular irmunorherapy program exemplifies what the Company 

believes will become a trend toward graft engineering. Namely, a bone marrow or 

PBSC graft will be fractionated into multiple cellular components that are 

administered to the patient at different time points to restore marrow function 

(stem and progenitor cells), eradicate residual 'aiignant disease (CD4 
Lymphocytes, NK cells), and prevent the emergence of viral and fungal diseases 

common in the immediare posr-rransplant setting (CD8 lymphocytes). The Company 
believes that its cell selection technology platform is ideally suited to graft 

engineering since it allows multiple cell types ro be recovered separately in 

clinically useful quantities, enabling the clinician to manipulate the 

composition of the graft to suit the parient's needs. ULtimateiy, the Company 

envisions that the various cellular components obtained using the CEPRATE(R1 SC 

System may be activated, expanded in number, or otherwise manipulated ex vivo, 

prior to infusion, to render them more effective. 


CELL THERAPY IN MEDICINE 


OVERVIEW 

Cell selection plays an increasingly important role in a variety of 

medical applic*ions. Both existing and developing therapeutic and diagnostic 

technologies depend on the ready availability of purified cell populations 

resulting from the collection of specific target cells, or the removal of 

particular cell contaminants, from a mixture of ceils. The increasing use of 

stem cell transplantation in cancer treatment, as well as the developmenr of new 

~echnologies such as gene therapy ana growth facrors, has creared a need for a 

cell selection technology that has a degree of cell seiectivity and a scale of 

cell recovery not available from traditional cell-selection methods. Monoclonal 

antibodies have provided the mecnanism that makes it possible to selectively 

identify a large number of different types of cells. A practical technology 

capable of selecting antibody-labeled cells from complex tissues, such as blood 

or bone marrow, could r,ot only improve the efficacy of current therapies, such 

as stem cell transplantation, but may also enable the more novel therapeutic and 

diagnostic approaches that require purified cell populations, such as gene 

therapy. 


The use of cells as therapeutics represents a fundamental change in the 

practice of medicine. Such cell therapy approaches are based upon the ability to 

isolate, manipulate and deliver specific cells to the patient. Until recently, 

physicians typically relied on small molecule-based drugs in treating patients. 

To the extent these drugs are poor analogs of nacural strucrures in the body, 

:hey are limited in tneir therapeutic effect ana are often associated with 

significant toxicity. Recombinant DNA technology has made it possible to clone 

genes and thereby produce significant amounts of naturally occurring therapeuric 




substances, s ~ c n  as normones ana growth factors. T k s e  suostancfs stlmdlate :he 

natural functicns of r h e  bodv ar.d have proven more effective rnan convent~onal 
drugs in the trearmenr of many clinicai conditions, including anemla, diabetes 

and cancer. These suostances are not seif-regulating, however, and can cause 

significant toxlclty when other organs in addition to the target tissue are 

exposed to these agents. The use of cells for zherapy represents a more 

effective and safer form of treatment for many dlseases because cells represent 

self-contained unlts that perform the body's natural functions and provide 

stimulation only wnen needed. Furthermore, target cells can be exposed 

specifically to ~eptldes and growth factors outside of the body, =hereby 

maximizing che therapeutic effects wnile mlnlmlzing toxlclty to other organs of 

the body. While srlli in its early developmental phase, cell therapy has already 

had a clinical impact by allowing more aggressive treatment of certain cancers 

and debilitating autoimmune diseases, and providing more effective treatmenr 

modalities for other ciseases, including gene therapy research. 


The tissues used in cellular therapy, such as blood and bone marrow, 

consist of many types of cells. Successful cellular therapy requires the 

identification and isolation of the beneficlai cells in these tissues and the 

elimination of cell types with undesirable or harmful side effects. For example, 

when bone marrow 1s utilized for transplantation, the collected aggregate of 

several billion cells contains hundreds of different cell types. In conventional 

bone marrow transplantaclon, healthy, blood-generating cells are returned to a 

patient whose marrow is either diseased, or has been damaged by radiation or 

chemotherapy. Stem cells are the only cells necessary to allow the patient to 

generate new blood and immune cells, but they only constitute approximately one 

percent of the cells In the marrow. The remainder of che marrow consists of 

cells that are elther unnecessary or potentiaily harmful when transplanted. For 

example, in an autologous bone marrow transplant, which utilizes che patlent's 

own bone marrow, :hat marrow may contain cancer cells that could cause relapse 

following transplantatlon back into the patient. In the case of stem cell 

transplantation from other donors, graft-versus-host disease often results 

because the donor lymphocytes in the transplanted cells attack the patient's 

tissues. Thus, it becomes clinically important either to select the desired 

cells, or co remove the offending cells. 


Gene therapy depends on inserting genes into specific cells, such as 

rare stem cells that are capable of long-term survival in the patient. The 

ability to concentrare these rare target stem cells, greatly fac~litates the 

successful appllcatlon of this technology because the genes can be targeted into 

the stem cells themselves instead of treating whole marrow or blood. 


In order for a cell-selection technology to be clinically useful, lt 

must be capable of processlng billions of cells (in the case of therapeutic 

applications), or several hundred million cells (in the case of most diagnostic 

and research applications). It must also have sufficient specificity to achieve 

isolation of rare target cells such as rumor cells, or stem cells, that may 

represent only a small fractlon of the cell population. Finally, it must be able 

to accomplish these tasks In a timely and cost-effective fashion. CellPro's 

cell-selection technology offers a practical solution to these challenges 

because its unlaue continuous-flow system allows rapld throuqnpur, while 

maintamlng a nlgn degree of selectlvrty for the target cells. 


CELLPRO TECHNOLOGY 


CellPro's avidin-biotln lmmunoaffinlty cell-selection system, which is 

embodied in the CEPRATE(R) SC System, takes advantage of monoclonal antibodies 

for selectivity and the strong affinity between avidin (a protein) and biotin la 

vitamin) to allow cell selection to be performed in a high-volume, 

continuous-flow, closed processmg system. In CellPro's CEPRATE(R) SC System, 

biotin molecules actached to monoclonal antibodies (which are themselves 

selective for the cells of interest) are introduced into a cellular mixture. The 

biotin-conjugated antibodies blnd selectively to the target cells. The resulting 

antibody-cell suspension 1s then rapidly passed through a column containing 

avidin-coated beads. The strong affinlty between biotin and avidin causes the 

biotin-linked target cells to adhere to the avidin-coated beads. This technique 

can be utilized to either positively select cells of interest or negatively 

deplete unwanted cells. In a positive select~on application, unmarked cells are 

washed through the column, then captured cells are removed by gentle ag~tation 

and collected for use. In a negative selection application, 
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the cells which do not adhere to the column are returned to the patlent, and the 

harmful cells that have been captured by the avidin-coated beads are retained 

and discarded. The avidin-biotin binding process makes possible a 

continuous-flow system that allows high throughput of cells In a short period of 

time with liuuted opportunity for non-target cells to bind nonspeci.fically to 

the beads. 


During a bone marrow transplant, one to two liters of bone marrow 

containlng several billion cells are obtalned from the patrent or donor. This 

material is then typically processed on a centrifuge, reducing the volume of 

materlal to 250 to 500 cc which is called a buffy coat. When stem cells are 
obtained from peripheral blood, a white blood cell fraction containing 150  to 
300 cc is obtained from the patient in a leukapheresis procedure Using the 
CEPRATE(R) SC System, these mixtures are then processed further to obtain a 

highly purified population of stem cells of approximately 4.5ml, sufficient for 
transplantation, in less than 90 minutes. 


PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS 


The CellPro cell-selection technology can be adapted according to the 

number of cells to be processed or the target cells to be selected. All CellPro 

systems use a similar avldin-biotin process with the size of the selection 

columns varying depending on the specific output required. For example, the 

CEPRATE(R) SC System (which can be used to process up to 50  billion cells) has a 
selection column containing 120cc of beads, whereas the CEPRATE(R) LC Laboratory 

Cell Separation System (the "CEPRATE(R) LC System") (which can be used to 

process approximately 100 million to 500 million cells) has a much smaller 
column containlng only 1.5cc of beads. Target-cell selection is determined by 

the choice of monoclonal antibody used. 


Cellpro's current development programs are focused on adapting its 

proprietary cell-selection technology for use in a broad range of clinical cell 

therapy indications. Many of these indications have already advanced into human 

clinlcal trials as evidenced by the following program summary: 


Stem Cell Selection Autologous BMT, stem cell therapy for cancer Comnercially available 

treatment 


Stem Cell Selection Autologous peripheral blood stem ceil therapy Phase I11 in multiple 

and tumor cell purging for cancer treatment myeloma - PMA filing 

expected FYI998 


Stem Cell Selection Autol~gou~
scem cell therapy for HIV and Phase 1/11 - several ongoing 
autoimnune diseases, including PS, lupus, 
rheumatoid arthritis 


Stem Cell Selection Autologous peripheral blood stem cell therapy Phase 1/11 - several ongoing 
for cancer 


Stem Cell Selection EX Vivo stem cell gene therapy for inherited Phase 1/11 - several ongolng 
disorders 




PRODUCT TYPE APPLICATION DEVELOPMENT STAGE 
................................................................................................................ 

Stem Cell Selection In utero allogeneic scem cell therapy ro treat Pilot strdies 


inherited disorders 
................................................................................................................ 

stem cell Selection EX vivo generatior. of autologous dendritic Pilot studies 


cells for lmnunization agalnst cancer 
................................................................................................................ 

Stem Cell Selection Ex vivo stem cell gene tkerapy for treament of Phase 1/11 - cngoing 

HIV (AIDS) 
................................................................................................................ 

Stem Cell Selection Allogenelc stem cell therapy and T-lympnocyte Phase 1/11 - begun October 
and T-Lympnocyte depletion to reduce graft vs host dlsease in 1996. Phase 111 planned for 

Deplet~on hematological malignancies FY 1998 


Stem Cell Selection Allogeneic stem cell therapy and T-lymphocyte Phase 1/11 - ongoing 
and T-~ymphocyte depletlon to reduce solid organ rejection 

Depletion following transplantation
................................................................................................................ 

stem cell selection Allogenelc stem cell therapy and T-lymphocyte Preclinical 

and T-Lymphocyte depletion to induce tolerance in pancreatic 

Depletion islet cell transplantation to treat diabetes 
................................................................................................................ 

Tumor Cell Depletion ~umor-specific cell depletion from peripheral Pilot studies - planned for 

blood stem cell transplants to treat various N 1998 

cancers 
................................................................................................................ 


T Lymphocyte selectlon T-lymphocyte subset selection to t r e a ~  Phase 1/11 - planned for EY 
infectlous diseases and cancer 1998 


Dendrltic Cell Autologous dendritic-cell selection fron Preclinical 

Selection peripheral blood for immunization againsr cancer 
................................................................................................................ 

Cancer Cell Selection Cancer-specific cell selection for early Preclinical 


diagnosis or relapse monitoring 


The Company spent approximately $16.2 million on research and 

development during the fiscal year ended March 31, 1997. 


' The CEPRATE(R) SC System and the CEPRATE(R) LC System accounted for 

100% of the Company's product sales during the fiscal years ended March 31, 

1997, 1996 and 1995. 


CELL THERAPIES FOR CANCER AND AUTOIMMUNE DISEASE TREATMENT 


OVERVIEW 


The bone marrow is the principal organ of the blood system and is 

responsible for the production of the various cells present in blood. The marrow 

itself consists of stem cells, including proliferating and differentiating 

cells, and mature blood cells (which include red blood cells, white blood cells 

and platelets). The stem cells give rise to all the other cells in the blood. 

The red blood cells are responsible for carrying oxygen to body tissues, the 

white blood cells are responsible for fighting infection and the platelets are a 

critical component of the blood-clotting process. If the marrow is damaged, the 

nature or composition of cells in the blood will be altered, resulting in many 

complications including anemia, infection and bleeding. 




Higher aoses of chemotnerapy are associatea generally with a higher 

probaoility of eradicaring certain aiseases, GUT zre aiso associated with 

increased toxicities that rcay lead to irreversible damage to the marrow and 

other tissues. Most patients must therefore oe given relatively low, and 

consequently less effective, doses of chemotherapyto prevent The aaverse and 

potentially lethal consequences of marrow destruction. Stem cell transplantation 

allows more aggressive treatments, which have a better chance of eradicating 

certain cancers. In this procedure, the patient is first given massive 

chemotherapy or radiation rreatment, which destroys the bone marrow as well as 

the cancer, and is then infused with an exogenous source of stem cells. 


Patier.rs are ?.ow being treated with growth factors to stimulate the 

recovery of their blood and immune systems after chemotherapy. The bone marrow, 

however, ~ 0 n ~ a i n S  
significantly reduced quantities of stem cells after 

chemotherapy, thereby limiting the effectiveness of such growth factors in 

therapy. Consequently, there is growing interest in infusing stem cells 

immediately after chemotherapy and then treating patients with growth factors. 

This provides a larger pool of stem ceils to be stimulated by the growth 

factors, potentially enabling a more rapid recovery of the marrow after 

chemotherapy. Because this treament could potentially be performed in an 

outpatient setting with minimal complications, it could greatly expand the 

number of patients eligible for stem cell therapy. 


Bone Marrow Transplanration 


When chemotherapy regimens, with or without the administration of 

radiation, are sufficienrly intense that they destroy the patient's blood and 

immune systems ana bone marrow, the patient will soon die without the successful 

reintroduction of new stem cells to repopulate the marrow. These reintroduced 

cells localize to the bone marrow, engraft and start producing new blood cells 

in the patient in approximately three-to-four weeks. This infusion of cells is 

called bone marrow transplantation. 


Bone marrow transplantation was originally used to treat hematological 

disorders. such as anemia and leukemia, but is being used increasingly to enable 

physicians to give higher doses of chemotherapy to treat patients with other 

forms of cancer and to treat other diseases and disorders. Currenrly, there are 

estimated to be between 36,000 to 38,000 bone marrow and peripheral blood stem 

cell transplantations performed annually around the world. This number is 

increasing rapidly, primarily because of the increasing use of transplantation 

procedures in patients with leukemias, lymphomas and, in particular, breast 

cancer. 


There are two types of stem cell transplants, autologous and 

allogeneic. In autologous transplantation, some of the parient's stem cells are 

removed prior to treatment, frozen and stored for later use. The previously 

stored stem cells are then infused into the patient after intense therapy with a 

variety ot protocols chat generally involve chemotherapy and radiation. 

Allogeneic transplantation, using stem ceils from a closely matched donor 

(usually a close reiative), is primarily used for treatmenr of patienrs with 

certain forms of anemia, ieukemia or lymphoma. This procedure is more frequently 

associated with serious complications and is generally more expensive to perform 

than auKologous transplantation. Furthermore, donors who are matched closely 

enough to the patient to be suitable can be found only in a limited number of 

cases. 


Cell selection plays a key role in the successful application of 

transplantation because it is important to separate the cells necessary for 

engraftment from other cells, which may have potentially adverse effects when 

they are infused into the patient. These undesired cells differ depending on the 

type of transplantation. In allogeneic transplantation, certain white blood 

cells in the donor graft can attack the patient (host) and cause a potentially 

lethal condition known as graft-versus-host disease ("GVHD"). In autologous 
transplantation, the stem cell harvests taken from the patient may contain 

cancer cells. This is not only true of patients whose cancer primarily affects 

the marrow, such as leukernla, but also for patients with solid tumors, such as 

breast cancer. Therefore, it is believed to be important to deplete cancer cells 

from the graft prior to infusion to prevent cancer from being given back to rhe 

patient receiving the 




transplant. Additixaily, a~tolocous ;rafts typically are fr~zen wlth 

cryoprotectants like aimethlysuifoxide, which can iead to a variety of toxic 

side effeccs upon infusion, including nypertension, caraiac arrnythmias. nausea. 

vomiting and occasional respiratory and renal failure. 


Several depietion techniques have been ceveloped :3 remove the cancer 
cells in autoloqous transplantation, or the specific white olood cells 

responsible for GVHD in allogeneic rransplantation. Many of rhese depietion 

technologies are associated with the administration of cytotoxic agents, wnich 

can have adverse effects on normal stem cells and can affect engraftment of the 

transplanted stem cells. 


Positive selection of szem cells provides an alternative to these 

depletion techniques. Depletion of tumor cells can be more easily achieved as a 

consequence of selecting the stem cells. Second, toxicity to normal marrow 

elements does not occur because ~ y t ~ t ~ ~ i c  
agents are not required to purge tumor 

cells. Third, a concentrated fraction of stem cells can be stored in a 

relatively small volume compared to whole marrow, and the use of purified stem 

cells can potentialiy reduce the side effects previously associated with marrow 

infusion. 


Stem Cell Collection from Peripheral Blood 


While stem cells comprise approximately one percent of bone marrow, 

they can also be found, albeit in significantly lower concentration, in blood. 

Collecting stem cells from peripheral blood by a centrifugation process known as 

apheresis has become an attractive aiternative to collecting marrow for 

transpiants because tke most common risks associated with marrow collection, 

including anesthetic and surgical complications, can be avoided. Moreover, 

clinical studies have demonstrated that peripheral blood s:em cells engraft more 

rapidly than marrow, by approximately 1.5 to 2 weeks. In the past, several 

apheresis procedures were required over approximately a one week period to 

collect sufficient numbers of peripheral blood stem cells to enqraft a patient. 

Hematopoietic growth factors are ncw being used to increase the concentration of 

stem cells in peripheral blood prior to apheresis. Using this strategy, 

sufficient numbers of stem cells can be collected in one to two aphereses. 

thereby making this procedure an increasingly attractive alternative to bone 

marrow transplantation. 


Stem cell collection from peripheral blood avoids the surgical and 

anesthetic risks associated with bone marrow collection. There are, however, 

major issues associated with this approach. First. because it has been shown 

that tumor cells are found in the blood of cancer patients, procedures that 

provide tumor-free scem cells are believed to be clinically desirable. in 

addition, ~oxicity is even more prevalent with peripheral blood transplants than 

with bone marrow transplants due to the larger volume of perrpheral blood which 

is required to be collected and infused. 


CellPro has completed patient enrollment in a Phase 111 clinical trial 

using peripheral blood stem cells purified with its CEPRATE(R) SC Systern for 

autologous transplantation in patients with multiple myeloma. The trial 

demonstrated that the use of concenrrated stem cells derived from peripheral 

blood significantly reduced the presence of tumor cells in the transplanzed 

material and was efficacious in engraftment. 


Stem Cell Therapy as an Adjuncz to Multicycle Dose-Intensified Chemotherapy 


In standard chemotherapy, the amount and duration of treatment is 

carefully regulated to minimize the risk of infection that results from lcw 

counts of neutrophils (neutropenia), a type of white blood cell. Treatments are 

usually administered at intervals cr in cycles to allow the patient's bone 

marrow a chance to recover from the adverse effects of chemotherapy. 

Unfortunately, cancer cells also tend to grow between treatment cycles. 

Therefore, strategies to reduce the period of neutropenia should both reduce the 

risk of infection and allow physicians to treat cancer patients more 

aggressively with chemotherapy. A number of hematopoietic growth fac1ors have 

been introduced and are being used to stimulate production of white blood cells 

after chemotherapy and thereby reduce the period of neutrcpenia. 




These growtn f a c t o r s  r.ave been of c l i n l c a l  b e n e f i t ,  but  a r e  l i m i t e d  i n  t h e l r  
o v e r a l l  e f f e c t i v e n e s s  because they a c t  on marrow t h a t  has  p rev ious ly  Seen 
damaged by chemotherapy. 

To overcome t h i s  l i m i t a t i o n ,  t h e r e  has  been a growing i n t e r e s t  i n  
in fus ing  t h e  p a t i e n t  w i t h  stem c e l l s  aiong w l t h  growth f a c t o r s  immediately 
fol lowing chemotherapy. The growth f a c t o r s  t h e n  Rave a l a r g e r  pool of stem c e l l s  
t o  s t imulaze ,  which r e s u l t s  ;n more rap id  r e g e n e r a t i o n  of  t h e  p a t i e n t ' s  blood 
c e l l s .  Using t h i s  approach, physicians have been a b l e  t o  d e l i v e r  more f requent  
and h igher  doses of chemotherapy. In  c o n t r a s t  t o  convent iona l  t r a n s p l a n t a t l o n ,  
stem c e l l  the rapy  a s  an adjunct  t o  mul t icyc le  dose i n t e n s i f i e d  chemotherapy 
could p o t e n r i a l l y  be given on an o u t p a t i e n t  b a s i s  w i t h  minimal complicat ions and 
a t  a reduced c o s t .  

Gene Therapy 

Stem c e l l s  a r e  c r i t i c a l  t o  t h e  s u c c e s s  of  many forms of  gene therapy.  
The goa l  of  gene therapy  is t o  produce a permanent g e n e t i c  a l t e r a t i o n ,  which can 
on ly  be accomplished i f  t h e  gene is  i n s e r t e d  i n t o  self-renewing c e l l s  l i k e  stem 
c e l l s .  Ce l lPro  is c o l l a b o r a t i n g  i n  var ious  p i l o t  c l i n i c a l  t r i a l s  t o  f i r s t  
determine t h e  s a f e t y  of gene therapy i n  p a t i e n t s  w i t h  b r e a s t  cancer ,  ovar ian  
cancer ,  leukemia, m u l t i p l e  myeloma and o t h e r  malignancies ,  and secondly t o  
determine t h e  t h e r a p e u t i c  b e n e f i t  of i n s e r t i n g  c o r r e c t i v e  genes f o r  t h e  
t reatment  of these  d i s e a s e s .  One of t h e s e  therapeutic genes, a  m u l t i p l e  drug 
r e s i s t a n c e  gene, i s  i n s e r t e d  i n t o  t h e  p a t i e n t ' s  bone marrow stem c e l l s  i n  an 
attempt t o  confer  drug r e s i s t a n c e  t o  t h e  p a t i e n t ' s  marrow. The p a t i e n t  may then 
be given g r e a t e r  doses of  chemotherapy in tended  t o  e l i m i n a t e  t h e  cancer  without  
damaging rhe p a t i e n t ' s  g e n e r i c a l l y  r e s i s t a n t  bone marrow. 

Ce l lp ro  1 s  a l s o  c o l l a b o r a t i n g  w i t h  t h e  Nat iona l  I n s t i t u t e s  of Health 
("NIH") and Childrens Hospi tal  Los Angeles i n  c l i n i c a l  t r i a l s  t o  i n s e r t  t h e  
adenosine deaminase (ADA) gene i n t o  stem c e l l s ,  p u r i f i e d  wi th  t h e  Company's 
CEPRATE(R) SC System, of c h i l d r e n  who a r e  missing t h i s  gene. The lack  of  ADA 
causes t h e  g e n e t i c  d i s o r d e r  severe combined immunodeficiency syndrome (SCIDS). 
In 1993, cord  blood stem c e l l s  from t h r e e  newbor:: i n f a n t s  w i t h  SCIDS were 
p u r i f i e d  us ing  t h e  Ce l lPro  CEPRATE(R) SC System f o r  subsequent t r a n s f e c t i o n  wi th  
normal ADA genes. The procedures were completed s u c c e s s f u l l y  and t h e  stem c e l l s  
returned t o  t h e  i n f a n t s .  The c h i l d r e n  a r e  e x p r e s s i n g  t h e  ADA gene, and d o c t o r s  
a r e  reducing conventional  therapeut ic  suppor t .  In a d d i t i o n ,  a stem c e l l  
t r a n s p l a n r  was used t o  t r e a t  a four-month-old f e t u s  diagnosed wi th  SCIDS. 
C e l l P r o ' s  c e l l  s e l e c t i o n  system was used t o  p u r i f y  stem c e l l s  from t h e  f e t u s '  
f a t h e r ,  which were then administered t o  t h e  f e t u s  i n  u t e r o .  At 18 months, t h e  
c h i l d  showed no s i g n  o f  t h i s  l i f e - t h r e a t e n i n g  i l l n e s s .  Other  c l i n i c a l  t r i a l s  
using C e l l P r o ' s  technology t o  p u r i f y  c e l l s  f o r  gene therapy  f o r  t h e  t reatment  of  
Gaucher's Disease, HIV, S ick le  Ce l l  Anemia, Thalassemia and o t h e r  d i s o r d e r s  have 
a l s o  begun. 

Allogeneic  Transp lan ta t ion  with T-cel l  Depletion 

3 a t i e n t s  with c e r t a i n  d i seases ,  such a s  leukemia, cannot use t h e i r  own 
c e l l s  f o r  t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n  because t h e i r  stem c e l l s  may be a f f e c t e d  by t h e i r  
d i s e a s e .  The t reatment  of choice f o r  many such  p a r i e n t s  who have Fa i led  s tandard  
therapy  is an a l logene ic  (donor c e l l )  t r a n s p l a n t .  In  t h e  a l l o g e n e i c  ~ r a n s p l a n t  
s e t t i n g ,  tumor contaminat ion of the  g r a f t  is n o t  a  concern, but  T c e l l s  i n  t h e  
g r a f t  a r e .  A T c e l l  i s  a type of immune c e l l  t h a t  c i r c u l a t e s  i n  t h e  blood t h a t  
can a t t a c ~  t h e  r e c i p i e n t  p a t i e n t ' s  own normal c e l l s  and cause a  p o t e n t i a l l y  
f a t a l  c o n d i t i o n  known a s  graf t-versus-host  d i s e a s e  (GVHD) .  The use of  c e l l s  from 
a c l o s e l y  matched donor reduces, but does n o t  e l i m i n a t e ,  t h e  r i s k  of W H D .  

A matched donor, however, may no t  be e a s y  t o  f i n d .  Fewer rhan one- th i rd  
of t h e  c h i l d r e n  who might b e n e f i t  from an a i l o g e n e i c  t r a n s p l a n t  have a 
g e n e t i c a i l y  matched s i b l i n g  who can se rve  a s  a donor.  Non-Caucasians and 
c h i l d r e n  of mixed e t h n i c i t i e s  a r e  much l e s s  l i k e l y  t o  f i n d  a s u i t a b l y  matched 
donor. In  a d d i t i o n ,  even where a  matched donor can be found, t h e  process  
involved o f t e n  t a k e s  longer  than these  c h i l d r e n  can wai t .  



Posit~ve selection of stem ceils using tr.e CEPRATE(R) SC Sysrem reauces 

the number of T cells in :he graft and may thus facilitate allogeneic 

transpiantation where donors and patients are closely matched. In the mismatched 

serting, however, adcitional T cell depletion is requirea to prevent G W D  in the 

patient. To address this need, Cellpro has developed a second generation 

product, the CEPRATE(R) TC3 System for use in conjunction wlth the CEPRATE(R) SC 

System to further deplete T cells from the graft. This product was approved for 

sale in Europe in February, 1997. 


In October, 1996, CellPro began Phase 1/11 clinical trials using the 

CEPP.ATE(R1 TCD System to treat approximately 25 patients at 6 centers in the 

U.S. and Canada. The trial involves children with leukemias who need a stem cell 

transplant, but can find no suitably matched donor. These children would 

otherwise have few, if any, viable treatment optlons for their fatal disease. 


Children enrolled in the trial will receive stem cell transplants from 

a family member (usually a parent) who is only partially mawhed with the child. 

Donor cells are processed first using the CEPRATE(R) SC System to concentrate 

the stem cells, and then using the CEPW\TE(R) TCD System to reduce the number of 

T cells in the graft. The clinical trial is designed to evaluate the proportion 

of patients who achieve successful engraftment and the proportion who develop 

GVHD. If proven to be safe and effective, use of the CEP?.ATE(R) TCD System could 

revolutionize allogeneic transplantation oy providing a viable option for many 

patients who would otherwise have little hope. Tzials using the CEPRATE(R1 TCD 

System for adult patients are scheduled to begin in the summer of 1997. 


T-cell Therapy 


Disease relapse is rhe most common cause of treatment failure in cancer 

patients, even among those patients who have received myeloablative doses of 

chemotherapy or radiotherapy in conjunction with stem cell support. Thus, it is 

clear that new approaches are needed to control residual disease if overall 

treatment outcomes are to be improved. 


A potential new application of cell therapy is the use of donor 

lymphocytes to enhance the ability of a patient's immune system to seek out and 

destroy residual tumor cells following an alloqeneic transplant procedure. Donor 

lymphocyte immunotherapy has been reported by various researchers to cure 

post-transplant relapse in chronic myelogenous leukemia patients. However, the 

application of donor lymphocytes is dose-limited due to the risk of inducing 

GVHD in the patient. CellPro believes that the use of selected CD4 T cells 

rather than unfractionated donor lymphocytes (buffy coats) will afford the 

desired anti-tumor response with less risk of inducing GVHD. Initial clinical 

studies will focus on using selected, donor CD4 T cells to treat relapse of 

disease. This treatment, however, could potentially be used prophylactically 

post-allogeneic transplant to prevent relapse in a wide range of hematologic 

cancer patients. 


Donor lymphocyte immunotherapy has also been reported to be effective 

in treating opportunistic vlral infections due to occurrence of Epsteln-Barr 

Virus (EBV) and Cytomegalovirus (CMV) following allogeneic transplant 

procedures. E3V is a significant problem since it can cause a rapidly 

progressive ana uniformly fatal lymphoproliferative disease if left uncheckea. 

EBV lymphoproliferative disease occurs in both bone marrow and solid organ 

transplant settings, where up to 40% of all cardiac transplant recipients 

experience this ccndition. Once a patient develops significant 

lymphoproliferative disease, this condition is nor treatable with current drugs. 

However, leading investigators have reported eradication of EBV disease using 

donor lymphocytes. CellPro believes that the use of selected CD8 T cells rather 

than unfractionated donor lymphocytes (buffy coats) will afford the same 

anti-viral response with less incidence of GVHD noted in these early studies. 


Cellpro's cellular immunotherapy program exemplifies what the Company 

believes will become a trend toward graft engineering. Namely, a bone marrow or 

PBSC graft will be fractionated into multiple cellular components that are 

aoministered to he patient at different time points to restore marrow functlon 

(stem and progenitor cells), eradicate residual malignant disease (CD4 

lymphocytes, NK cells), and prevent 




the emergence of viral and fungal diseases common I n  the immediate 
post-transplant setting (CD8 lymphocytes). CellPro belleves that its cell 

selection technology platform is ideally suited to graft engineering since it 

allows multiple cell types to be recovered separately In clinically useful 

quantities, enabling the clmician to manipulate the composition of the graft to 

suit the patient's needs. Ultimately, the Company envisions that the various 

cellular components obtained using the CEPRATE(R) SC System may be activated, 

expanded in number, or otherwise manipulated ex vivo, prior to infusion, to 

render them even more effective. 


Adoptive Immunotherapy 


In the autologous transplant setting, new cellular vaccine techniques 

are under development to enhance the ability of the patient's immune system to 

mount a response against the residual tumor cells which contribute to relapse. 

Historically, the use of vaccines has been extremely effective at inducing 

immunity against many viral and bacterial pathogens, however, they have 

demonstrated only limited benefit against cancer. 


CellPro has developed techniques for isolating dendritic cells from the 

patient's blood, using monoclonal antibodies specific to dendritic cells or 

their precursors. These specialized cells are capable of processing and 

presenting tumor antigens to naive, unstimulated T cells. Following selection, 

dendritic cells are presented with a specific tumor antigen ex vivo, then 

infused into the patient as a cellular vaccine to induce a T-cell response in 

vivo. The initial clinical target for dendritic cell vacclnes are likely to be 

multiple myeloma or melanoma patients. 


Another approach whlch CellPro is currently actively developing with a 

research collaborator, Corixa Corporation, is to use its cell selection 

technology in a process for ex vivo education and expansion of antigen-specific 

T cells. Autologous antigen presenting cells (such as dendritic cells) are first 

exposed to tumor specific antigens and then combined with the patient's T cells 

for ex vivo education or activation. The T cells are then reinfused into the 

patient as a cellular vaccine to mount a tumor specific attack against the 

residual tumor cells. CellPro plans to initially focus this therapy on the 

treatment of breast cancer. 


Adoptive immunotherapy, utilizing autologous, antigen-specific, 

effector lymphocytes may prove a safe, effective, and non-cross resistant means 

of eradicating minimal residual disease in cancer patients who have undergone 

prior surgical removal of tumor or myeloablative chemotherapy treatment. 


Tumor Cell Purging 


While stem cell selection alone is effective in significantly reducing 

the number of tumor cells present in the cell infusion received by a transplant 

patlent, it frequently does not totally eliminate the presence of tumor cells. 

The Company is currently developing new next-generation products for use with 

its CEPRATE(R) SC System to enhance the degree to which tumor cells are purged 

from autologous stem cell grafts. Using antibodies specific to certain tumor 

cells, a second cell selection step is performed following the initial stem cell 

concentration to negatively deplete remaining tumor cells. The Company has begun 

clinical testing of these next-generation products. Initial focus will be placed 

on systems to ''purge" breast cancer and lymphoma transplants. 




Autoimmune Diseases 


Autoimmune diseases such as mult~ple sclerosis ( M S I ,  lupus and 
rheumatold arthrltls are causea by tke patlenc's own immune cells attacking 

their normal tissues. A number of cancer patients wlth co-existlng auto:mune 

diseases have experienced some improvement of their autoimmune condition 

following stem ceil Eranspianratlon ro treat Their cancer. This has led tc a 

strocg interest in ,Lslng hlgh-dose chemotherapy and autologous scem cell 

transplantation as therapy for this serious and debilitating group of d~seases. 

The bone narrow or blood products of autoimmune patients will, however, contain 

certain Immune cells whlch ccuid relnltlate the dlsease. The CEPRATE(R1 SC 

System is thus being used in these cllnical trials to enrich for the stem cells 

necessary for rebuilding the blood and immune systems and at the same tlme 

depleting the immune cells tk.at cause disease. 


In May, 1996, Northwestern University Medical School in Chicago began 

the nation's first ciinical trial to use autologous bone marrow transplantation 

to treat rapidly progressing MS. The Medical College of Wisconsin in Milwaukee 

is also participating in this study. MS is caused by an ~mmunological attack on 

the myelin sheath :hat covers many of the nerve fibers in the central nervous 

system. This attack is thought to be caused by T-cell mediated immune 

destruction of the r'yelin sheath surrounding nerves. The CEPRATE(R) SC System is 

being used in this study to purify the stem cells and reduce the number of T 

cells returned to the patlent rn the transplant procedure. Northwestern 

University and the University of Wiscons~n in Madison are aiso conducting 

similar clinical trials to treat lipus and rheumatold arthritis. 


Researchers at St. Jude's Children's Research Hosp~tal in Memphis, 

Tennessee recently conaucted a ciinical trial to determine whether stem cells 

could be moblllzed Into the peripheral blood of HIV-1-infected lndlviduals, 

collected and used to aevelcp gene-transfer based therapies to combat the 

disease. The stem cells were sxcessfully mobilized in these patients and 

selected using the CEPRATE(R) SC System. Analysls of the stem cells indicated 

they were free from vlral ~nfection, making them suitable not only for use in 

gene-transfer based therapies, but also for use in stem cell transplantation and 

immune system reconstitution. 


Another cllnlcal study 1s being conducted at the City of Hope Natlonal 

Medical Center in Duarte, California using the CEPRATE(R) SC System to select 

stem cells from HIV-positive patients. A ribozyme gene is inserted into the 

selected stem cells in the hope that the transduced cells will produce T cells 

resistant to HIV infection. If successful, this trial could represent a malor 

step toward successful gene therapy treatments for HIV and other aiseases. 

Ribozyme Pharmaceuticals, Inc., is supplying the ribozyme gene used in this 

trial. 


CEPRATE(R1 LC SYSTEM 


aiomedical researchers are increasingly performing studies that require 

purified cell populations. For example, investigators in immunology are srudying 

cytokines, receptors and antlgens in various subpopulations of lymphocytes. 

Other researchers in hemacopolesls are investigating growth factors and the 

function of a number of genes in hematopoietic stem cells. To accomplish these 

tasks, investigators need to purify sufficient numbers of lymphocytes or stem 

cells. 


CellPro has developed the CEPRATE(R) LC System, which is easy to use, 

versatile and capable of selecting a wlde variety of cell types. It conslsts of 

an entire cell selection system, including reagents, antibodies and hardware, 

and is used to perform cell selection in the research laboratory. This product 

was introduced in October 1991 for isolation of hematopoietic stem cells. 

CellPro has since introduced kits that can be used to isolate several lymphocyte 

subpopulations. Major customers for these research products include academic 

research institutions, b~otecnnoloqy companies and pharmaceutical firms. 


OTHER APPLICATIONS 




To d a t e ,  Cel lpro has fccused i t s  deveiopmenc e f f o r t s  on t h e  produc ts  
l isrred above. The Con3any has a i s o  conauctea f e a s i b i l i t y  s t u d i e s  of  t h e  
a p p i i c a t i c n  of i t s  c e l l - s e l e c t i o n  tech~ .o logyL?. t h e  a r e a  of cancer  a i a g n o s t ~ c s  
and 2s expanding the  a p p l i c a t i o n  of i t s  technoiogy . to  t h e  i s o l a t i o n  of stem 
c e l l s  f o r  use i n  treacmenrr of var ious  a u r o i m u n e  d i s e a s e s  and support i n  s o l i d  
organ t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n .  

C e l l P r o ' s  c e l l - s e p a r a t i o n  technology may have a p p l l c a t i s n  i n  a s s i s t i n g  
phys ic ians  i n  t h e  d iagnos i s  o f  cancer .  By c o n c e n t r a t i n g  r a r e  tumor c e l l s  t h a t  
a r e  p resen t  i n  t h e  e a r l y  s t a c e s  of cancer  from t i s s u e s  such as marrow o r  blood, 
Cel lPro technology could inprove t h e  d i a g n o s t i c  accuracy  of c u r r e n t  t e s t s  f o r  
cancer .  

Exploratory t r i a l s  have begun us ing  donor s e l e c t e d  stem c e l l s  t o  reduce 
t h e  incidence of s o l i d  organ r e j e c t i o n  i n  a t r a n s p l a n t  s e t t i n g .  The use of donor 
stem c e l l s  condi t ions  t h e  host  p a t i e n t  t o  a l s o  e x p r e s s  c e r t a i n  c h a r a c t e r i s t i c s  
of  t h e  d o n o r ' s  immune system, thus reducing t h e  r i s k  of  t h e  p a t i e n t ' s  own immune 
system mounting a  defensive a t t a c k  a g a i n s t  t h e  new organ which can lead  t o  
r e j e c t i o n .  

Stem c e l l s  nay a l s o  be used t o  induce t o l e r a n c e  i n  t h e  s e t t i n g  of 
p a n c r e a t i c  i s l e t  c e l l  t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n  (ICT).  Yreatment of  d i a b e t e s  with ICT has  
t h e  p o t e n t i a l  t o  prevent  the  development of s e r i o u s  end-stage complicat ions of 
t h e  d i s e a s e ,  such a s  r e n a l  f a i l u r e  and b l i n d n e s s .  I f  s u c c e s s f u l ,  t h i s  approach 
could s i g n i f i c a n t l y  improve the  q u a l i t y  of l i f e  f o r  people wi th  d i a b e t e s  and 
minimize t h e  enormous expense associated w i t h  t r e a t i n g  p a t i e n r s  who a r e  
s e r i o u s l y  a f f e c t e d  by t h e  d i s e a s e .  U t i l i z i n g  donor bone marrow infus ions  i n  
connect ion w i t h  ICT, researchers  a t  t h e  Diaberes  Research I n s t i t u t e  i n  Miami, 
F lor ida  have obtained improved s u r v i v a l  of  t r a n s p l a n t e d  i s l e t s  i n  experimental  
models. The CEPRATE(RI SC System is  now being used t o  determine i f  enr iched  
donor stem c e l l s  can enhance i s l e t  s u r v i v a l  i n  p r e - c l i n i c a l  models. 

PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY 

The Company's p o l i c y  i s  t o  p r o t e c t  i t s  technology by, among o t h e r  
t h i n g s ,  f i l i n g  pa ten t  a p p l i c a t i o n s  f c r  technology t h a t  i t  cons iders  important t o  
t h e  development of i t s  business .  The Company h a s  e i g h t  i s s u e d  p a t e n t s  i n  t h e  
U.S. and f i v e  foreign p a t e n t s  concerning c e l l  s e l e c t i o n  and r e l a t e d  technology 
developed o r  l i censed  by the  Company. A d d i t i o n a l  U.S. and fore ign  pa ten t  
a p p l i c a t i o n s  a r e  pending includinq rrwo U.S. p a t e n t s  which have been allowed, but  
not y e t  i s sued .  The Company intends t o  f i l e  a d d i t i o n a l  pa ten t  a p p l i c a t i o n s ,  when 
a p p r o p r i a ~ e ,  r e l a t i n g  t o  improvements i n  i ts technology and o t h e r  s p e c i f i c  
procedures t h a t  i t  develops. 

See Also, "Investment Cons idera t ions  - P a t e n t s  and P r o p r i e t a r y  
Technology" on pages 1 9  through 2 1 .  

UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT REGULATION 

OVERVIEW 


Regulat ion by governmental a u t h o r i t i e s  is a s i g n i f i c a n t  f a c t o r  i n  t h e  
manufacture and marketing of t h e  Company's proposed products  and i n  i ts ongoing 
research  and product development a c t i v i t i e s .  A l l  of  t h e  Company's proposed 
products ,  except  t h e  CEPRATE(R) LC System, which i s  intended f o r  n o n c l i n i c a l  
purposes on ly  and is t h e r e f o r e  exempt from premarket c lea rance  requirements, 
w i l l  r e q u i r e  regu la tory  approval p r i o r  t o  commercial izat ion.  In  p a r t i c u l a r ,  
human t h e r a p e u t i c  products  a r e  sub jec t  t o  r i g o r o u s  p r e c l i n i c a l  and c l i n i c a l  
t e s t i n g  a s  a condi t ion  of approval by t h e  FDA and by s i m i l a r  a u t h o r i t i e s  i n  
f o r e i g n  c o u n t r i e s .  The lengthy process  of seek ing  t h e s e  approvals ,  and t h e  
ongoing process  of compliance with a p p l i c a b l e  f e d e r a l  s t a t u t e s  and r e g u l a t i o n s ,  
r e q u i r e  t h e  expenditure of s u b s t a n t i a l  r e s o u r c e s .  Any f a i l u r e  by t h e  Company o r  
i ts  c o l l a b o r a t o r s  o r  l i c e n s e e s  t o  o b t a i n ,  o r  any d e l a y  i n  ob ta in ing ,  r e q u l a t o r y  
approvals  cou ld  adverse ly  a f f e c t  t h e  marketi-g of any products  developed by t h e  
Company. 



The Csmpany and ail of its suppliers are r2jecL to various federal, 

s c a t e  and locai laws, reguiacions and recomnenaaizzcns relating to such matters 
as safe working conaitions, laboratory ana manufac~uring practices, the 

experirnen~al use of animals and the use and disposai of hazardous or potentiaily 

hazardous substances, including radioactive compounds and biological materials, 

used in connec~ion with the Company's research and development work. The Company 

does not expecc environmental compliance co materially effect its earnings, 

capital expenditures or competitive position. 


For a discussion of the reguiatory process see "Invest~.ent 

Considerations - Government Regulation" on pages 24 through 27. 

COLLABORATIVE, LICENSE AND TECHNOLOGY-RELATED AGREEMENTS 


The Company seeKs to obtain licenses to technologies that complement 

and expand its existing technology base. Where consistent with its business 

strategy, the Company intends to enter into collaborations or to license product 

and marketing rights to selected strategic partners to capitalize on the 

production, development, regulatory and marketing capabilities of these 

entities. Several of the Company's collaborative, license and technology-related 

agreements are set forth below. 


FRED HUTCHINSON CANCER RESEARCH CENTER 


In March 1989, the Company entered into two license agreements with the 

'red Hutchinson Cancer Research Center (the Hutchinson Center.) Under one 

agreement, the Company was granted an exclusive, worldwide license (with the 

zight to sublicense) [subject to the rights of certain U.S. governmental 

agencies and a grant-back to the Hutchinson Center for non-commercial research 

purposes) to certain patent rights relaticg to aviain-biotin immunoaffinity 

chromatography, which constitutes CeliProls core technology for cell separation. 

The Company paid an up-front license fee upon execurion of this license 

agreement and has paid additional amounts upon achieving certain milestones. In 

addition, the Company is obligated to pay royalties, subject to a minimum 

royalty for a period of ten years after the first commercial shipment of a 

producr covered by this license agreement and royalties on actual product sales 

during the remainder of the term of a licensed patent. CellPro also has the 

option of converting its license into a non-exclusive license upon two years' 

notice, which would then relieve it of certain of its royalty payment 

obligations. 


Under the second agreement, CellPro obtained an exclusive, worldwide 

license [with the right to sublicense) for ex vivo therapeutic applications and 

a non-exclusive license for all other applications under the Hutchinson Center's 

rights to a certain hybridoma cell line that produces antibodies selective for 

an antigen expressed on human stem cells. The Con~any said an up-front license 

fee and is obligated to pay royalties until March 1499. In addition, the Company 

also paid certain amounts to the Hutchinson Center co fund research. 


CORIXA CORPORATION 


In December 1995, the Company encered into a multi-year research 

collaboration and licensing agreement with Corixa Corporation, a Seattle-based 

biotechnology company. 


The research collaboration calls for CellPro to provide funding for a 

new research program to identify and optlmize methods and conditions for growth, 

activation, or stimulation of tumor-antigen-specific lymphocytes (white blood 

cells) and other antigen-presenting cells outside of the body (ex vivo) for use 

in treating cancer. The program objective is to develop commercial products that 

co.mbine CellPro's ex vivo cell-separation and ceil-culture technology with 

Corixa's knowledge and access to proprietary tumor antigens, antigen delivery 

systems and adjuvants. 




Under the agreecent, as anenaed in January 1997, CellPro receives 

exclusive woriawide ri~hrs to all ex vivo therapy applicatioRs arising from 
Corlxa's technology witnir. the field of oncology and co-exclusive rignts to 

dendritic cell vaccines z-at incorporate Corixa's technology. CellPro will be 

responsible for ;he clinical developmenr and commercial introducticn of any 

products resulting from tris agreement. CellPro wiil provide Corixa with 

research funding and will nake additional milestone and royalty payments basea 

on rhe successful developxenr and commercialization of these products. The 

amount of research fundins wiil 3e negotratea anr.ually, subject to certain 

minimcms. 

The Company has entered into license agreements with other companies 

and academic and researcn institutions pursuant to which the Company receives 

access to certaln antibodies and cell lines for use in its product development 

programs. 


COMPETITION 


The market for cell separation systems is competitive. Many of the 

Company's existing or potential competitors have substantially greater 

financial, technical and human resources than rhe Company and may be better 

equipped to develop, manufacture and market such systems. In addition, many of 

these companies have extensive experience in preclinical testing and human 

clinical trials. Certain of these companies may develop and introduce grodccts 

and processes competitive with or superior to those of the Company. The Company 

faces competition, partic,~lariy in the cell-separation field, from several 

biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, including Amgen, Inc., Baxter 

Healthcare Corporation, Becton Dickinson and Company, Novartis/Systemix and 

Aastrom Biosciences Inc. in collaboration with COBE BCT. 


The Company's competitive position will be determined in part by which 

cell selection products are ultimately approved for sale by regulatory 

authorities and by the outcome of certain legal proceedings pending against the 

Company. For a discussion of these legal proceedings, see "Investment 

Considerat~ons-- Legal Proceedings," below. The relative speed with which the 
Company aevelops its products, completes the approval processes and is able to 

manufacture and market commercial quantities thereof will be an important 

competitive factor. Currently, the Company's CEPRATE(R) SC System is approved 

for commercial sale in the European Economic Area and Canada, and is the only 

cell processing system approved in the U.S. The Company expects that competition 

among cell selection proaucts approved for sale will be based, among other 

factors, on producr efficacy, safety, reliability, availability and prlce. 


EMPLOYEES 


The Company currently employs approximately 155 persons, of whom 103 

are dedicated to research, development, manufacturing, quality assurance and 

quality control, regulatcry affairs or preclinical and clinical testing. 

Twenty-two of the Company's employees have a Ph.D. or M.D. degree. 


MANUFACTLXIING AND SUPPLY 


The Company's manufacturing operations are located in approximately 

23,000 square feet in a leased facility in Bothell, Washington. Manufacturing 

activities are fully integrated, including antibody production and purification, 

avidin affinity matrix, assembly and fill, and distribution operations. The 

Company is required to operate this facility in compliance with the FDA's Good 

Manufacturing Practices (GMP) requirements and within the requirements of other 
regulatory authorities such as IS0 9000 standards for the European Community. 

Regulatory compliance requires extensive efforts by the Company, and there can 

be no assurance that sucn requirements will be satisfied in a timely manner. It 

is 




estimated that cnls faciiicy wiil zave the ca~acity to satisfy product -sage 

reqcirements fzr currenr and piannea clinicai ~rlals and ro supply proaxts for 

early commerclai sales. 


The Company has formed a subsidiary, CellPro Europe N.V./S.A., with 

principal executive offices located In Brusseis, Belgium. The purpose of CellPro 

Europe N.V./S.A. is to coorcinate sales and marketing activities for the Company 

throughout Europe. The Company has also establistied subsidiaries in France, 

Germany, Italy and Spain, to conduct sales anc customer support activities in 

key markets of Europe. In addition, tne Company has agreements with companies in 

South America and the Asia-Pacific region for :he distribution of CellPro's 

products. 


The Company purchases antibodies, components and supplies for its 

products. Certain of rhe antibodies, components and supplies are obtained from 

single source suppliers. 


INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS 


The Company desires to take advantage of certain provisions of the 

Private Securities ~itigation Reform Act of 1995, enacted in December 1995 (the 

"Reform Act") that provided a "safe harbor" for forward-looking statements made 

by or on behalf of the Company. The Company hereby cautions stockholders, 

prospective investors in the Company and other readers that the following 

important factors, among others, in some cases have affected, and in the future 

could affect, the Company's stock price or cause the Company's actual results 

for the fiscal year enaing March 31, 1998, for the fiscal quarter enaing June 

30, 1997, and for tuture fiscal years and quarters to differ materially from 

those expressed in any forward-looklng statements, oral or written, made by or 

on behalf of the Company. 


LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 


The Company is engaged in litigation with the Johns Hopkins University 

("Hopkins"), Gecton Dickinson h Company ("BD") and Baxter Healthcare Corporation 
("Baxter") concerning certain U.S. patents. There have been two jury trials in 

the case. Following ;he first trial in the Summer of 1995, a unanimous 

seven-member jury in the U.S. Distrlct Court in Wilmington. Delaware, on August 

4, 1995, rendered a verdict wholly favorable to CellPro relating to the four 

U.S. patents then in suit: Patent Sos. 4,714,680, 4,965,204, 5,035,994 and 

5,130,144 (hereinafter the '680, '204, '994 and '144 patents), which had been 

assigned to Hopkins, licensed to BD and sublicensed to Baxter. The '680 patent 

purports to cover certain suspensions of stem cells in isolation from a mixed 

cell population: the '204 parent purports to cover hybridomas that produce 

monoclonal antibodies having certain characteristics relating to stem cells, and 

to cover sucn antibodies themselves; the '994 patent purports to cover a method 

of stem cell isolation using such antibodies; and the '144 patent purports to 

cover a method of transplanting stem cells in a human patlent. 


The jury in the first trial determined that the Coepany did nor 

literally infringe any of these four patents: chat all claims of all four 

patents were invalid for obviousness under 35 U.S.C. Section 103; and that, with 

the exception of two claims of the '204 patent, all claims of all four patents 

were invalid on the additional ground of failure to enable under 35 U.S.C. 

Section 112. The two claims of the '204 patent as to which the jury did not 

render a verdict of "nonenablement" invalidity under 35 U.S.C. Section 112 are 

limited in rheir literai scope to the My-10 antibody and its accompanying 

hybridoma, an antibody and hybridoma which are not employed by the Company. 


Following the first jury verdict, plaintiffs filed post-trial motions 

and, on July 1, 1996, the Delaware District Court (per Judge Roderick R. 

McKelvie) partially granted plaintiffs' motion for judgment as a matter of law 

as to the issues of infringemen~, Inducement of infringement and enablemenr with 

respect to the '680 patent, as well as the issue of induced infringement with 

respect to the '144 patent. The Court ordered a new trial on remaining liability 

and infringemen~ issues. 




I n  a s e r i e s  of  d e c i s i o n s  s c b s e a u e n r  = o  t r . e  J u l y  1, 1996 o r o e r ,  Zudge 
XcKelvie g r a n t e d  mot lons  by :r,e p l a i n z i f f s  t o  d i s m l s s  C e l l P r o ' s  remain ing  
l i a b i i i z y  and i n f r i n g e m e n t  d e f e n s e s .  ? l a l n r l f f s  novea  t o  wi thdraw cwo of t h e  
f o u r  p a t e n r s  ( t h e  '994 a n a  '::4 p a t e n z s )  f rom s u i t ,  x n i c h  motlon was g r a n t e d  
upon p l a i n t i f f s '  u n d e r t a k i n g  ' ,hat t h e y  would  n o t  a c c u s e  a n y  p r e s e n t  p r o d u c t  o f  
C e l l p r o  o f  i n f r i n g i n g  t h o s e  p a t e n t s .  

A s e c o n d  j u r y  t r i a l  was h e l d  i n  March,  1997,  a t  which t h e  j u r y  was 
i n s t r u c t e d  t o  t h e  e f f e c t  t h a t  t n e  C o u r t  had a l r e a d y  d e t e r m i n e d  t h a t  C e l l P r o  
i n f r i n g e d  t h e  two p a r e n t s  remaining i n  t h e  s u i t ,  t h a t  i ts d e f e n s e s  had been 
d i s m i s s e d ,  and  t h a t  t h e  j u r y  was bound b y  :hose d e t e r m i n a t i o n s .  Hence, t h e  j u r y  
a t  t h e  s e c o n d  t r i a l  h e a r d  ev idence  and a r g u m e n t s  o n l y  a s  t o  t h e  amount o f  
damages t o  be  awarded and a s  t o  w n e t h e r  Ce:1Pro1s c o n d u c t  had been w i l l f u l .  On 
March 11, 1997,  t h e  j u r y  r e a c n  a  v e r d i c t  f i n d i n g  w i l l f u l n e s s  and award ing  scme 
$2.3 m i l l i o n  i n  damages zo p l a i n t i f f s .  

No judgment h a s  y e t  been e n t e r e d  o n  t h e  s e c o n d  j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t ,  b u t  t h e  
Company b e l i e v e s  i t  h i g h l y  i i k e l y  t h a t  a judgment w i l l  be  e n t e r e d  a f f i r m i n g  s u c h  
j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  i n  t h e  n e a r  f u t u r e .  Meanwhile t h e  f o l l o w i n g  mot ions ,  on  
wnich o r a l  argument was h e a r d  on A p r i l  30 ,  1997,  a r e  s t i l l  pending  f o r  d e c i s i o n :  
(1) P l a i n t i f f s '  motion f o r  enhanced damages, whereby  t h e y  a s k  t h e  Cour t  t o  
t r e b l e  t h e  j u r y ' s  damage award t o  some $ 6 . 9  m i l l i o n ;  ( 2 )  p l a i n t i f Z s l  motion f o r  
a t t o r n e y  f e e s ,  whereby t h e y  s e e k  a d e t e r m i n a t i o n  t h a t  C e l l P r o  is l i a b l e  t o  
r e i m b u r s e  them f o r  some $7 m i l l i o n  i n  a t t o r n e y  f e e s  and  r e l a t e d  l i t i g a t i o n  
c o s t s ;  ( 3 )  p l a i n t i f f s '  motion f o r  a permanent  i n j u n c t i o n ,  which s e e k s  r e l i e f  
f u r t h e r  d i s c u s s e d  below; and ( 4 1  t h e  Company's a l t e r n a t i v e  motion f o r  a s t a y  o f  
i n j u n c t i o n  pending  a p p e a l .  Also pending  is a  m o t i o n  aimed t o  d e t e r m i n e  whether ,  
and i f  s o  when, t h e  Company w i l l  be a l l o w e d  t o  p r o c e e d  f u r t h e r  on i t s  d e f e n s e  
r h a t  t h e  p a t e n t s  a r e  u n e n f o r c e a b l e  f o r  m i s u s e  b y  r e a s o n  o f  a n  a t t e m p t  by t n e  
p l a i n t i f f s  t o  e x t e n d  t h e  reach  o f  t h e i r  p a t e n t s  beyond t h e  t e r r i t o r y  o f  t h e  U.S. 
I n  t h e  i n t e r e s t  o f  e x p e d i t i n g  an a p p e a l ,  t k e  Company h a s  o f f e r e d  t o  d i s m i s s  t h e  
misuse  c l a i m  w i t h o u t  p r e j u d i c e  t o  i t s  r e i n s z a t e r n e n r  s h o u l d  t h e r e  be a r e v e r s a l  
on a p p e a l .  

P l a i n t i f f s '  p roposed  i n j u n c t i o n  i s  complex i n  form, b u t  i f  g r a n t e d  
would p r o h i b i t  C e l l P r o  ( s u b j e c t  t o  a s t a y  h e r e i n a f t e r  d e s c r i b e d )  from maklng, 
u s i n g  and  s e l l i n g  p r o d u c t s  i n  t h e  U . S .  which  u t i l i z e d  t h e  a n t i - s t e m - c e l l  
monoclonal  a n t i b o d y  t h a t  i s  e s s e n t i a l  t o  t h e  Company's p r i n c i p a l  p r o d u c t s  a s  
t h e y  a r e  p r e s e n t l y  c o n s t i t u t e d .  P l a i n t i f f s '  p r o p o s e d  i n j u n c t i o n  would a l s o  
r e q u i r e  a one-year  phase-down o f  s a l e s  o f  t h o s e  p r o d u c t s  i n  t h e  r e s t  o f  t h e  
wor ld ,  f o l l o w e d  b y  a  moratorium on i n t e r n a t i o n a l  s a l e s  o f  CD34-antibody-based 
p r o d u c t s  t h e r e a f t e r  f o r  a p e r i o d  o f  one  y e a r .  The p a r t i a l  s t a y  proposed  b y  
P l a i n t i f f s  would b e  e f f e c t i v e  u n t i l  s u c h  t i m e  a s  a n o t h e r  s t e m - c e l l  
immunoseparat ion p r o d u c t  ( such  a s  B a x t e r ' s  ISOLEX(R1 p r o d u c t )  g a i n s  a p p r o v a l  
from t h e  FDA, an e v e n t  which P l a i n t i f f s  h a v e  c o n t e n d e d  is  p r o b a b l y  s i x  months 
away b u t  which may t a k e  s i g n i f i c a n t l y  l o n g e r .  Under P l a i n t i f f s '  p roposed  
s t a y ,  c h e  Company would be a l lowed t o  c o n t i n u e  s e l l i n g  i t s  p r i n c i p a l  p r o d u c t s  t o  
s u p p o r c  FDA approved  s t u d i e s  and t r i a l s  ( i n  t h e  U.S. o n l y )  commenced b e f o r e  s u c h  
t ime a s  an a l t e r n a t i v e  d e v l c e  wins  FDA a p p r o v a l .  Under p l a i n t i f f s '  p roposed  
s t a y ,  a l l  o t h e r  commercial  anc c o s t  r e c o v e r y  s a l e s  o f  d i s p o s a b l e  components, 
a p a r t  from FDA s t u d i e s  and c r i a l s ,  would b e  s u b j e c t  t o  t h e  requi rement  t h a t  
C e l l P r o  pay  o v e r  t o  p l a i n t i f f s  t h e i r  " i n c r e m e n r a l  p r o f i t s "  ( a s  d e f i n e d  i n  t h e  
p r o p o s e d  i n j u n c t i o n )  on t h o s e  s a l e s ,  b u t  n o r  l e s s  t h a n  $ 2 , 0 0 0  p e r  commercial 
s a l e  o f  d i s p o s a b l e  p r o d u c t .  

The Company h a s  opposed t h e  e n t r y  o f  a n y  i n j u n c t i o n  on p u b l i c - h e a l t h  
grounds  and h a s  proposed  t h a t  i f  a n y  i n j u n c t i o n  is e n t e r e d ,  i t  s h o u l d  b e  s t a y e d  
i n  t o t a l  pending  a p p e a l .  

The Company i n t e n d s  t o  c h a l l e n g e  t h e  s e c o n d  j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  on 
p o s t - t r i a l  mot ions  and, i f  n e c e s s a r y ,  on  a p p e a l  t o  t h e  U.S. Cour t  o f  Appea ls  f o r  
t h e  F e d e r a l  C i r c u i t .  The Company f u r t h e r  i n t e n d s  t o  p u r s u e  vigorously an a p p e a l  
i n  t h a t  C o u r t  from a a v e r s e  r u l i n g s  h e r e t o f o r e  and  h e r e a f t e r  made by t h e  D i s t r i c t  
C o u r t .  The Company p l a n s  t o  urge  t h a t  r e v e r s i b l e  e r r o r s  were  made by t h e  C o u r t  
i n  t r y i n g  t h i s  c a s e ,  t h a t  t h e  second  j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  is c o n t r a r y  t o  t h e  e v i d e n c e  
and t h e  law, and  t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  j u r y ' s  i n v a l i d i t y  v e r d i c t s ,  w h o l l y  f a v o r a b l e  t o  
C e l l P r o ,  s h o u l d  b e  r e i n s t a t e d  and judgmenc e n t e r e d  t h e r e o n .  



The antltrusr ana unralr conpetlslon claims flied by CellPro againsr 

the plaintiffs have oeen stzyea penaing cornpletlon of :he patent l~tigatlon. 


Simuitaneousiy wlth the patent litigation in the Delaware District 

Court, an adminisrrative proceeding 1s pending wherein CellPro has petrtloned 

the U.S. Department of Health and Human Servlces ("the Department") to exercise 

Lts "march-in" rlghts unaer the Bayh-Dole Act (35 U.S.C. Section 203) by 

requiring Hopkins to license to CellPro, on reasonable rerms, the technology 

covered by the Hopkins patents. However, the Departnent nas never before 

exercised its march-ln rlghts under the Bayh-Dole Act. Yarch-in rights may be 

exercised if no practical application of the tecnonolcgy in dispcte has been 

maae in a reasonaole tlrne and none 1s exptecred, and such a license is necessary 

to protect public health. The Department's decision whether to proceed further 

with thelr evaluation of the march-ln process is expected by early August, 1997. 


Although Management 1s optlmlstic tnat this parent dispute will 

ultimately be resolved favorably to the Company, due either to success on 

post-trial motions, success on appeal and/or success in the Bayh-Dole march-in 

proceeding, the course of litigation is inherently uncertain and there can be no 

assurance of a favorable outcome. 


Regardless of the ultimate prospect of a favorable outcome, the Company 

expects to continue to make substanrlal expenditures in connection with this 

litigatlon for the foreseeable future. Future expenses in connection with thls 

litigation could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of 

operations and financial position in future periods. 


If plalntlffs snould succeed In thelr applications for a trebling of 

damages and award of attorney fees, and if they snould succeed in defending 

their position on these ltems of relief in the Federal Circuit Court on appeal, 

then the Company would be required to pay a judgment for damages and fees of 
approximately $14 million, which could have a s,~bstanrial adverse impact 3 ~ .the 
Company's business and financial condition. As dlscussed I n  Item 3, the Company 
has accrued $17 million to cover potential losses from and future expenses for 

pursulng this litigatlon. 


If the Company's Bayh-Dole petition should fail and if, in addition, 

the plaintiffs were to succeed in obtaining an injunction in the form they 

propose, then the Company would be prohibited from selling its principal 

products, and from conducting certain related research activities, in the U.S. 

during the term of the patents, which would greatly dlsrupt the Company's 

operations. Absent a Bayh-Dole or other reasonable license, and if a sutable 

stay of injunction were not qranted pending appeal, the Company, according to a 

declaration of its chief financial officer filed May 28, 1997, would likely find 

it necessary to significantly restrict operations so as to conserve capltal 

while awaitir.g the outcome of the appeal. Any such event could result in a 

significant cecrease In the value of the Company and therefore makes any 

investment in the Company inherently highly speculative. 


As a possible aiternative to a litigated result, the Company could 

pursue further attempts to obtain commerclaily reasona~le licenses under the 

four Johns i-iopkins patenrs at Lssue rhrougn varlous means, including chzough 

negotiations with plaintiffs. Such attempts have not been successfui to date, 

however, and no assurance can be given that plaintiffs would license the patents 

to the Company at all or on terms that would permit commercialization of the 

Company's stem cell separation technology. 


PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY. 


The Company's ability to compete effectively will depend substantially 

on lts abrlicy to develop and malntaln proprietary aspects of the technology. To 

date, the Company has submitted numerous U.S. parent applications and forelgn 

counterparts relating to cell selection technoloqy developed by the Company, of 

which five patents have lssued in the U.S., two have been allowed in the U.S., 

but not yet issued, three have issued In Canada, and 0r.e has been granted in 

Europe. The Company also has Licensed the rights to certain patents related as 

continuations to an application oriqinaliy filed by tne Hutchinson 




Center In January 1986; tnese patents lssuea ~c 1993 ( U . S .  5,215,927, 6/2/93; 
U.S. 5,225,353. 7!6/93; U.S. 5,262,334. ;1/16/931. The European counterpart of 

These cases was granted in 1992 (EP B 0260 2801 and subsequently upheld on 

opposition. The Company Intends to file additional patent appiications, when 

approprlate, relating to improvements in its technology and other specific 

products that it develops. Although the Company has been grancea or kas 

exclusive rlghts to varlous patents, tF.e Company's success w ~ l l  depend in large 

part on its ability to obtain U.S. and foreign patent protection for its 

products, preserve its trade secrets and operace wlthout infringing on the 

proprietary rights of third partles. There can be no assurance that the 

Company's lssuea patents, any future patents that nay be issued as a result of 

the Company's U.S. or international patent applications, or the patents under 

which the Company has license rights, will offer any degree of protection to the 

Company's procucrs against competltive products. There can also be no assurance 

that any additional patents wlll issue from any of the patent applications owned 

by or licensed to the Company, or that any patents that currently are or may be 

issued or licensed to the Company or any of the Company's patent applications 

will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented in the future, or that any 

patents issued to or licensed by the Company will not be infringed upon or 

deslgned around by others. In adaition, there can be no assurance that 

competitors, many of whom have substantla1 resources and have made substantial 

investments In competing technologies, will not seek to apply for and obtain 

patents that wlll prevent, limit or interfere with the Company's ability to 

make, use or sell its products either in the U.S. or in international markets. 

Moreover, patent law relating to certain of the Company's field of interest, 

particularly as to the scope of claims in issued patents, is still developing 

and it is unclear how these patent law developments will affect the Company's 

patent r~ghts. 


The mealcal devlce industry has been characterizea by extensive 

litigatlon reqardlng patents and otner intellectual property rlghts, and 

companies in the industry have empioyed intellectual property litigatlon to gain 

a competltive advantage. There can be no assurance that the Company will not in 

the future become subject to additional patent infringement claims and 

litigatlon or interference proceedings declared by the U.S. Patent and Trademark 

Office ("USPTO") to determine the priority of inventions. The defense and 

prosecution of intellectual property suits, USPTO interference proceedings and 

related legal and administrative proceedings are both costly and time consuming. 

Litigation may be necessary to enforce patents issued to or licensed to the 

Company, to protect the Company's trade secrets or know-how or to determine the 

enforceability, scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others. 


Entry of a judgment against the Company, in a patent infringement case 

involving an antibody used by the Company in its CEPW\TE(R) SC System, appears 

highly likely in the near future. See "Legal Proceedings." Plaintiffs in 

this case are seeking a permanent injunction against the Company's principal 

products. This injunction would prevent the Company from manufacturing or 

selling these products wnich would have a materlal adverse effect on the 

Company's business, financial condition and results of operations (see "Legal 

Proceedings," above). There can be no assurance that additional infringement 

claims by third parties or claims for ~ndemnificarion resulting fr3m 

infringement clams wlll not be asserted aqalnst the Company ln the future or 

that such assertions, if proven to be true, will not have a material adverse 

effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Any additional litigation or interference proceedings involving the Company 

would likely result in substantial expense to the Company and significant 

diversion of effort by the Company's technical and management personnel. An 

adverse determination in litigation or interference proceedings to which the 

Company is or may become a party could subjecr: the Company to significant 

liabilities to third parries or requlre the Company to seek licenses from third 

parties. Although pacent and intellectual property disputes in the medical 

device area have often been settled through licensing or similar arrangements, 

costs associated with such arrangements may be substantial and could include 

ongoing royalties. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that necessary 

licenses would be available to the Company on satisfactory terms or at all. 


In addition to patents, the Company relles on trade secrets and 

proprietary know-how, wnich it seeks to protect, In part, through approprlate 

confidentiality and proprietary information agreements. These agreements 

generally provide that ail confidential information developed or made known to 

the individual by the Company during the course of the individual's relationship 

wlth the Company 1s to be kept confidentlal and not disclosed to third partles, 

except ln specrfic circu7stances. The agreemencs also 




g e n e r a l l y  provide t h a t  a l l  inventions conceived by t h e  i - d i v i a , ~ a l  i n  t h e  course 
of renderinq s e r v l c e s  LC t h e  Coxpany s h a l l  be t h e  exc ius ive  proper ry  of t h e  
Company. There can De nc assurance t h a t  proprietary i n f o r m a ~ i o n  o r  
c o n f i d e n t i a l i t y  agreements with employees, c o n s u i t a n t s  and o t h e r s  w i l l  not be 
breached, t h a t  t h e  Company w i l l  have adequate remedies f o r  any breach,  o r  t h a t  
t h e  Conpany's t r a d e  s e c r e t s  w i l l  no t  o therwise  become known t o  o r  independently 
developed by compecitors. 

DEPENDENCE ON CEPRATE ( R )  SC SYSTEM. 

The CEPRATE(R) SC System is che pr imary product being marketed by  t h e  
Company and w i l l  remain s o  f o r  :he n e a r  term. The Company has rece ived  approval  
from t h e  FDA f o r  use of t h e  CEPRATE(R) SC System f o r  t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n  o f  stem 
c e l l s  ob ta ined  from bone marrow. Tn o r d e r  t o  market t h e  CEPRATE(R) SC System i n  
t h e  U.S. f o r  a d d i t i o n a l  i n d i c a t i o n s ,  inc lud ing  f o r  t h e  p o t e n t i a i l y  l a r g e r  market 
o f  t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n  of stem c e l l s  ob ta ined  from p e r i p h e r a l  blood, t h e  Company 
w i l l  be requ i red  t o  ob ta in  a d d i t i o n a l  r e g u l a t o r y  approvals .  The Company h a s  
completed a Phase 11: c l i n i c a l  t r i a l  f o r  use  of t h e  CEPRATE(R) SC System f o r  
t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n  of  stem c e l l s  ob ta ined  from p e r i p h e r a l  blood i n  p a t i e n t s  w i t h  
m u l t i p l e  myeloma and p lans  t o  f i l e  a PMA based on i ts  r e s u l t s  i n  t h e  f a l l  of 
1997 .  There can be no assurance,  however, t h a t  t h e  FDA w i l l  approve t h e  product  
f o r  t h i s  indication o r  w i l l  not r e q u i r e  a d d i t i o n a l  c l i n i c a l  t r i a l s .  

There can be no assurance t h a t  t h e  CEPRATE(R) SC System w i l l  ach ieve  
market acceptance and be commercially s u c c e s s f u l .  Because t h e  CEPRATE(R) SC 
System r e p r e s e n t s  the Company's p r i n c i p a l  near-term focus,  and because many of  
t h e  Company's f u t u r e  proaucts  ucder development a r e  designed t o  be used i n  
conjunct ion with t h e  CEPRATE:R) SC Syscem, f a i l u r e  of the  CEPRATE(R) SC System 
t o  ga in  market accep-ance would have a m a t e r i a l  adverse e f f e c t  of t h e  Conpany's 
business ,  f i n a n c i a l  condit ion and r e s u i t s  of opera t ions .  Addi t iona l ly ,  t h e r e  can 
be no assurance t h a t  a  permanent i n j u n c t i o n  a g a l n s t  t h e  s a l e  of  t h e  CEPRATECR) 
SC System i n  t h e  U.S. w i l l  not be gran ted  a s  a  consequence of t h e  c u r r e n t  p a t e n t  
l i t i g a t i o n  involving t h e  Company. Any such i n j u n c t i o n  would have a  m a t e r i a l  
adverse e f f e c t  on the  Company's bus iness ,  f i n a n c i a l  condi t ion  and r e s u l t s  of  
opera t ions .  See "Legal Proceedings. " above. 

UNCERTAINTY OF PRODUCT ACCEPTPNCE . 
S a l e s  of t h e  Company's p roduc ts  have genera ted  growing but  modest 

revenues t o  d a t e .  The CEPRATE(R) SC System has  been approved f o r  marketing and 
s a l e  i n  t h e  U.S., i n  t h e  European Economic Community ( t h e  "EEC") and i n  Canada. 
The CEPWTE(R) TCD System has a l s o  been approved f o r  use i n  t h e  EEC. These a r e  
the  o n l y  Company products char have rece ived  such approvals .  The CEPRATE(R1 SC 
System is  approved f o r  use i n  autologous bone marrow t r a n s p l a n t a t i o n  i n  t h e  U.S. 
Commercial s a l e s  of the  proauct  f o r  o t h e r  uses  w i l l  r e q u i r e  s p e c i f i c  FDA 
approval ,  a s  w i l l  the  CEPRATE(R1 TCD System. There can be no assurance t h a t  t h e  
CEPRATE(R) SC System o r  any of t h e  Ccspany's f u t u r e  products  w i l l  g a i n  any 
s i g n i f i c a n t  degree of market acceptance i n  t h e  U.S. o r  i n t e r n a t i o n a l l y  among 
phys ic ians ,  h o s p i t a l  personnel,  o t h e r  h e a l t h  c a r e  p rov iders  and t h i r d - p a r t  y  
payors ,  even i f  reimbursement and necessary  r e g u l a t o r y  approvals  a r e  ob ta ined .  
The Company be l ieves  t h a t  t h e  commercial success  of  i ts  products  w i l l  depend on 
such acceptance.  Acceptance w i l l  a l s o  depend upon t h e  Company's a b i l i t y  t o  t r a i n  
phys ic ians ,  h o s p i t a l  personnel  and o t h e r  h e a l t h  c a r e  p rov iders  t o  use t h e  
CEPRATEtR) SC System and t h e  Company's o t h e r  p roduc ts ,  and t h e  w i l l i n g n e s s  of 
such i n d i v i d u a l s  t o  l e a r n  t o  use t h e s e  produc ts .  F a i l u r e  of t h e  Company's 
products  t o  achieve s i g n i f i c a n t  xarjret acceptance would have a  m a t e r i a l  adverse 
e f f e c t  on t h e  Company's business ,  f i n a n c i a l  condi t ion  and r e s u l t s  of o p e r a t i o n s .  

VOLATILITY OF STOCK PRICE. 

The s e c u r i t i e s  markets have, from t ime t o  t ime,  experienced s i g n i f i c a n t  
p r l c e  and volume f l u c t u a t i o n s  t h a t  a a y  be u n r e l a t e d  t o  t h e  o p e r a t m g  performance 
of p a r t i c u l a r  companies. These f l u c t u a t i o n s  o f t e n  s u b s t a n t i a l l y  a f f e c t  t h e  
market p r l c e  of a company's common s t o c k .  In  p a r t i c u l a r ,  t h e  market p r i c e s  f o r  
s e c u r i t i e s  o f  medical device companies and biotechnoloqy companies have i n  t h e  
p a s t  been, and can l n  the  f u t u r e  be expected t o  be, e s p e c i a l l y  v o l a t i l e .  The 
market p r i c e  of t h e  Company's 



loamon Stock has in the past ana in the future may be subject to voiatllity in 

general and from quarter :o quarter depenaing upon announcements regardi~g 

developments concernlnq proprietary rlghts or lirigation or disputes related 

thereto, the results of reguiatory approval filings, clinical studies or other 

testing, technological innovarions or new commercial products by the Company or 

its competitors, government regulations, chanqes in reimursement levels, public 

concern as to the safety of proaucts developed by the Company or others, changes 

in health care pollcy In the U.S. and internaclonally, -he issuance of new or 

changed stock market anaiyst reports and recommenoatrons, and economlc and other 

external factors, as weli as continued operaring losses by the Company and 

fluctuarlons in tne Company's financlal resuits. These factors could have a 

materlal adverse effect on the Company's business, financial conaition and 

results of operations and may not be indicative of the prices tnat may prevail 

in the public market. 


LIMITED SALES, MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPERIENCE. 


The Company has limited experience in sales, narketing and distribution 

of its products, partlcuiarly outside of the EEC. The Company has established a 

direct sales force in Europe to sell its products, primarily in the EEC, and is 

selling the product through distributors in Latin America and the Asia-Paclfic 

Region. The Company is currently recruiting to establish its sales and technical 

support ream to support r3e U.S. product launch of the CEPRATEIR) SC System. In 

addition, the Company is currently working wlth a consultant to explore options 

for entering the Japanese market. There can be no assurance that the Company 

will be able to attract and retaln qualified sales and marketing personnel and 

distributors, or that the Company's sales and mar~etinq efforts wlll be 

successful. Failure to develop an effective sales and marketing organization or 

establish effective distribution relationships wirh respect to the Company's 

products could have a material adverse effect on the Company's busrness, 

financlal condition and results of operations. 


UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO THIRD-PARTY REIMBURSEMENT. 


In the U.S., physicians, hospitals ana o:her health care providers that 

perform medical servrces generally rely on third-party payors, such as private 

health insurance plans, to reimburse all or part of the cost assoc~ated with the 

treatment of patients. There can be no assurance that third party reimbursement 

at acceptable levels will be avarlable for such procedures. At present, 

third-party payors are lnconslstent in their approach to reimbursement for stem 

cell transplantation. There can be no assurance that even if reimbursement is 

provided for such transplantation procedures, the cost of the CEPRATE(R) SC 

System or the Company's future products would be covered. 


Reimbursement and health care payment systems in international markets 

vary significantly by country, and can include both government sponsored and 

private health care insurance. Failure by physicians, hospitals and other health 

care providers, both in the U.S. ana internat~onally, to obtain sufficient 

reimbursement from third-party payors for use of the Company's products, or 

adverse changes In government and private third-party payors' policies toward 

reimbursement for such procedures, could have a marerial adverse effect on the 

Company's business, financlal conditron and resuics of operations. 


NO ASSURANCE OF SUCCESSFUL PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT. 


The Company's ability to successfully develop any additional products 

1 s  uncertain. The Company's research and development programs with respect to 
certain of its potential products are at an early stage. The Company's goal is 

to develop, manufacture and market products for use in cell therapy and 

diagnostics based upon the Company's proprietary cell selection technology. 

Potentla1 new products will require significant additional research, 

development, preclinical and clinical testing, regulatory approval and 

additional investment prior to their commercialization, which may not be 

successful. Development of new products may also require access to technologies 

which are owned or controlled by third parties and which may not be available to 

the Company at a cost-effective price or commercially-acceptable terms, if at 

all. There can be no assurance that the Company's approach will result in the 

development of commercially successful products on a timely basis, or at all. 




COMPETITION AND TE3INOLOGICX CIWGE . 
Biotechnology In general and celi therapy in particular are rapidly 


evolving fields in wnich developments are likely to continue at a raptd pace. 

Technological competition from existing biotechnology companies and others 

diverslfyina into this field is intense and expected to increase. Currently, the 

CEPRATE(R) SC System is the only stem cell selection system approved for 

commercial sale in the U . S .  Although this potenrially gives the Company a lead 
over its competitors in the U.S. marketplace, there can be no assurance that 

other, more effective cell selection systems which compete with the CEPRATE(R1 

SC System will not receive FDA approval in tne near future. Other companies and 

lnstitutlons with substantially greater financial, manufacturing, marketing, 

distribution and technical resources than the Company are engaged in the 

research and development of products similar to those currently being developed 

or commercializea by the Company. and others may choose to enter this market at 

a later date. The Company is aware of at least one other company, Baxter 

International Inc., which has filed a PMA requesting approval for a competing 

product from the FDA. The Company currently faces competition from several 

companies in the development and utilization of cell selection devices, as 

discussed under the section titled "Compecizion" above. There can be no 

assurance that these or other companies or institutions will not succeed in 

developing products or procedures that are more effective than the Company's or 

that would render the Company's technology or products obsolete or 

uncompetitive. The Company believes that important competitive factors with 

respect to the development and commerc~alization of its products include the 

relative speed with which it can develop products, establish clinical utility, 

complete the clinical testing and regulatory approval process, obtain 

reimbursement and supply commercial ouantlties of the product to the market. The 

Company's inability to compete favorably with respect to any of these factors 

could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and 

results of operations. The Company also competes with other companies for 

clinical sites to conduct trials. There can be no assurance that the Company 

will be able to compete successfully or that competition will not have a 

material adverse effect on che Company's business, financial condition and 

results of operations. 


DEPENDENCE ON CONTRACT LWFACTURERS AND SUPPLIERS; MANAGEMENT OF EXPANDED 

OPERATIONS; GMP. 

The Company currently purchases antibodies and many components used in 

its products from third party sources. In addition, the Company currently 

subcontracts parts of its manufacturing process for certain products and their 

components and expects to continue to do so. Certain antibodies and components 

are obtained from single source suppliers. There can be no assurance that the 

supply of such antibodies, components or supplies will not become limited or be 

interrupted or that the Company's manufacturing process will not be interrupted 

in the future. There also can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 

continue its present arrangements with its suppliers, supplement existing 

relationships, find alternative suppliers or that the Company will be able to 

identify or obtain the anribodies or other components necessary to develop 

products in the future. 


There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to develop the 

necessary manufacturing capability, build and train the necessary manufacturing, 

quality control and assurance teams, attract, retain and integrate the required 

key personnel, or implement the financial and management systems necessary to 

meet any increased demand for its products. Failure of the Company to 

successfully expand its operations in response to any increased demand for its 

current and future products, if any, could have a material adverse effect on the 

Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. 


To be successful, the Company's products must be manufactured in 

compliance with regulatory requirements and at acceptable costs. The Company's 

manufacturing facilities are subject to GMP regulations, international quality 
standards and other regulatory requirements. Failure by the Company to maintain 

its facilities in accordance with GMP regulations, international quality 

standards or other regulatory requirements may entail a delay or termination of 

production, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's 

business, financial condition and results of operacions. 




24  
GOVERNMENT REGULRTION 


FDA A W H O R I T V .  T5.e testing, manufactare ana sale of the Company's 
products are subJect 70 regulatron ny numerous governmental authorities, 

principally the FDA and corresponding state ana forelgn regulatory agencies. The 

FDA regulates the preclinical and clinical testing, manufacture, labeling, 

distribution, and promotion of medical devices. Noncompllance with applicable 

requirements can result In, among other things, fines, injunctions, civll 

penalties, recall or selzure of products, total a r  partial suspension of 
production, failure of =he FDA to grant premarKet clearance or premarket 

approval for devlces, withdrawal of marketing clearances or approvals, and 

crlminal prosecution. The FDA also has the authority to request recall, repair, 

replacement or refund of the cost of any devlce manufactured or distributed by 

the Company. 


DEVICE CLASSIFICATION. In the U.S., medical devices are classified into 

one of three classes (i.e., Class I, 11, or 111) on the basis of the controls 

deemed necessary by the FDA to reasonably ensure their safety and effectiveness. 

Class I devlces are sublect to general controls (e.g., labeling, premarket 

notification and adherence to GMPs)  and Class I1 devices are subject to general 
and speciai controls (e.g., performance standards, postmarket surveillance, 

patient registries, and FDA guidelines). Generally, Class I11 devices (e-g., 

life-sustaining, llfe-supporting ana implantable devices, or new devices which 

have been found not to be substantially equivalent to legally marketed devices) 

are those which must receive premarket approval by the FDA to ensure their 

safety and effectiveness 


Before a new device can be introduced in the market, the manufacturer 

must generally obtain FDA clearance or approval througn elther clearance of a 

510(kl nctlfication or approval of a PMA. 


510(Ki CLEARANCE. A 510(kl clearance will be granted if the submitted 
infornatlon establishes that the proposed devlce is "substantially equivalent" 

to a legally marketed Class I or Class I1 medical device or a Class I11 medical 

device for which the FDA has not called for PMAs. The FDA recently has been 

requlrlng more rigorous aemonstration of substantial equivalence than in the 

past, including in some cases requiring submission of clinical data. The FDA may 

determine that the proposed device is not substantially equivalent to a 

predicate device, or that additional information 1s needed before a substantial 

equivalence aetermination can be made. It generally takes from four to 12 months 

from submission to obtain 510[k) premarket clearance, but may take longer. A 

"not substantially equivalent" determination, or a request for additional 

information, could prevent or delay the market introduction of new products that 

fall into this category. For any devices that are cleared through the 510(k) 

process, modifications or enhancements that could significantly affect safety or 

effectiveness, or constitute a major change in the intended use of the device, 

will require new 510(kl submissions. 


PMA APPROVAL. A PMA application must be filed if a proposed device is 

not substantially equivalent to a leqally marketed Class I or Class I1 device, 

or if it is a Class 111 devlce for which the FDA has called for PMAs. A PMA 

application must be supported by v a l ~ d  sc~entlfrc evldence to demonscrate the 

safety and effectiveness of the device, typically including the results of 

clinical trials, bench tests, laboratory and animal studies. The PMA must also 

contain a complete description of the device and its components, and a detailed 

description of the methods, facilities and kontrols used to manufacture the 

device. In addition. the submission must include the proposed labeling, 

advertising literature and any trainrng materials. The PMA process can be 
expensive, uncertain and iengthy, and a number of devices for which FDA approval 

has been sought by other companies have never been approved for marketing. 


Upon receipt of a PMA application, the FDA makes a threshold 
determination as to whether the applicat~on is sufficiently complete to permit a 

substantive revlew. If the FDA determines that the PMA application is 

sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review, the FDA will accept the 

application and begin an ~n-depth review of the PMA. The FCA revlew of a PMA 

application generally takes one to three years from the date the PMA is accepted 

for filing, but may take sign~ficantly longer. The review time is often 

significantly extended by the FDA asklng for more ~nformation or clarification 

of information already provided in the submission. During the review period, an 

advisory committee, typically a panel of 




clinicians, wlil l i k e i y  oe conveneo ro revlew ana evaluace tne application and 
provide recommenaations to the FDA as to whether the cevice scould be approved. 

The FDA is nor bouna by the recomenaaEion of the advisory panel. 


Toward the end of the PMA review process, the FCA generally will 

conduct an inspecrion of the manufacc,~rer's facilities r3 ensure that rhe 
facilities are in conpliance with applicable GMP requirements. If FDA 

evaluations of both the PMA application and the manufactur~ng facilities are 

favorable, the FDA may issue either an approval letter or an approvable ietter, 

which usually contains a number of conditions that must be met in order to 

secure flnal approvai of the PMA. Khen ana if :hose co~ditlons have been 

fulfilled to the sat;sfacrion of the FDA. the agency wlll issue a PMA approval 

ietter. authorizing commercial marketing cf tk.e device for certain indications. 

If the FDA's evaiuatlon of the PMA application or manufacturing facilities is 

not favorable, the FDA will deny approval of the PMA application or issue a 

"non-approvable" letter. The FDA may determine that additional clinical trials 

are necessary, in which case the PMA may be delayed for one or more years while 

additional clinical trials are conducted and submitted in an amendment to the 

PMA. Modifications to a device that is the subject of an approved PMA, its 

labeling, or manufacturing process may require approval by the FDA of PMA 

supplements or new PMAs. Supplements to a PMA often require the submission of 

the same type of information required for an initial PMA, except that the 

supplement 1s generally limited to that information needed to support the 

proposed change from the product covered by the original PM9. 


PMA SUBMITTED. The CEPRATE(R) SC System is being regulated as a Class 

111 device reauirina submission of a PMA. The Company filed a PYA for use of rhe 

CEPRATE(R) SC System for use in auroloqous stem cell transplantation using bone 
marrow. The Company received norice from the FDA that its initial PMA was 
approved on December 6, 1996. The Company anticipates that a number of its 

future products currently under development will aiso be classified as Class 111 

devices requiring a PMA. 


CLINICAL TRIALS. If human clinical trials of a device are required, 

whether for a 510(k) cr a PMA, and the device presents a "significant risk," the 

sponsor of the trial (usually the manufacturer or rhe distributor of the device) 

will have to file an investigational device exemption ("IDS") application prior 

to commencing human clinical trials. The IDE application must be supported by 

data, typically including the results of animal and laboratory testing. If the 

IDE application is approved oy the FDA and one or more appropriate Institutional 

Review Boards ("IRBs"), human clinical trials may begin at a specific number of 

investigational sites with a specific number of parients, as approved by rhe 

FDA. If the device presents a "nonsignificant risk" to the patient, a sponsor 

may begin the clinical trial after obtaining approval for the study by one or 

more appropriate IRBs without the need for FDA approval. Submission of an IDE 

does not give assurance that FDA will approve the IDE and, if it is approved. 

there can be no assurance that FDA will determine that the data derived from 

these studies support :he safety and efficacy of the device or warranL the 

continuation of clinical studies. Clinical trlals using the CEPRATE(R) SC System 

are "significanr r i s ~ "  trials which zequire ID%. Tb.e Company is currently 

conducting several clinical trials under its own IDES and is involved in an 

extensive investigator sponsored IDE program where the investigator holds the 

IDE and is responsible for conducting the clinical trial. The Company intends to 

use data from certain of these trials to support FDA approval of additional 

indications for the CEPRATE(R) SC System. There is no assurance that any of 

these trials wlll be successful or that the FDA will accept data from the trials 

as adequate for approval of the CEPRF\TE(R) SC System for additional indications. 

Manufacturers are permitted to sell investigational devices distributed in the 

course of clinlcal studies provided such compensation does not exceed recovery 

of the costs of manufacture, research, development and handling. The Company has 

instituted a cost recovery program for certain of the investigator sponsored 

clinical trials which use the CEPRATE[R) SC System. 


NO ASSURANCE OF APPROVALS OR CLEARANCES. There can be no assurance that 

the Company will be able to obtain necessary regulatory approvals or clearances 

on a timely basis or at all, and delays in receipt of or failure to receive such 

approvals or clearances, the loss of previously received approvals or 

clearances, limitations on intended use imposed as a condition of such approvals 

0r 




clearances, c; failbre TO conpiy with exis~ing or future reguiatory requirements 

would have a material aaverse effect on the Company's business, financial 

condition and resuits of operations. 


PERVASIVE REGULATION. m y  devices manufactured or distributed 5y the 
Company pursuant to FDA clearance or approvals are subject to pervasive and 

continuing regulation by FDA and certain stace agencies. Manufacturers of 

medical devices for marketing in the U.S. are required to adhere to applicable 

regulations governing aesign and manufacture which are described in GXP 
requlrements, xhich inciude testing, controi and documentation requirements. 

Manufacturers must also comply with Medical 3evice Xeporting ("MDR") 

requirements that a firm report to the FDA any incident in whlch its product may 

have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury, or in which its product 

malfunctioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, ir would be likely to cause 

or contribute to a death or serious injury. Labeling and promotional activities 

are subject to scrutiny by the FDA and, in certain circumstances, by the Federal 

Trade Commission. Although current FDA enforcement poiicy prohibits the 

marketing of approved medical devices for unapproved uses, physicians are not 

prohibited by the FDA from using products for indications other than those 

approved by the FDA. There can be no assurance that the CEPRATE(R) SC System or 

the Company's future products, if any, will not be used by physicians for 

indications other than those approved by the FDA and that the Company will nor: 

be subject '13 F3A action resulting from such use. 


The Company is subject to routine inspection by FDA and certain state 

agencies for compliance with GMP requirements. MDR requirements, and other 

applicable reguiatlons. The FDA has recently changed GMP regulations which will 

likely increase the cost of compliance with GMP requirements. Future changes in 
existing requlrements or adoption of new requirements could have a material 

adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, and results of 

operation. There can be no assurance that tne Company will not incur significant 

costs to conwly with laws and regulations in the future or that laws and 

regulations will not have a material adverse effect upon the Company's business, 

financlai condition or results of operation. 


INTERNATIONAL CONSIDERATIONS. Sales of medical devices outside of the 

U . S .  are subject to international regulatory requirements that vary widely from 
country to country. The time required to obtain approval for sale 

internationally may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval, 

and the requirements may differ. The Company has obtained the certifications 

necessary to enable the CE mar& an internationai symbol of adherence to quality 

assurance standards and compliance with applicable European Union Medical Device 

Directives, to be affixed to the CEPRATE(R1 SC System and the CEPRATE(R) TCD 

System. The CE mark designates full marketing approval throughout the 18-nation 

European Ecmomic Area. In order to maintain this certification, the Company 

will be subject to periodic inspections. The CEPRATE(R) SC System has also been 

approved for commercial sale in Canada. The Company has contracted with 

distributors for sale of the CEPRATE(R) SC System in certain countries in Latin 

America ana the Asia-?acific region pursuant to distribution agreements which 

obligate rhe distributor KO obtain regulazory approval for sale of the product 
in those counries whlch require them. Many countries in which the Company 

currently operates or intends to operate either do not currently regulate 

medical devices or have minimal registration requirements; however, these 

countries may develop more extensive regulations in the future that could 

adversely affect the Company's ability to market its products. In addition, 

significant cos~s and requests by regulators for additional information may be 

encountered by the Company in its efforts to obtain regulatory approvals. Any 
such events could substantially delay or preclude the Company from marketing its 

products in the U.S. or internationally. Failure to comply with applicable 

regulatory requirements can resuit in loss of previously received approvals and 

other sanctions and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's 

business, financial condition and results of operations. 


ADDITIONAL REGULATION. The Company also is subject to numerous federal, 

state and local laws relating to such matters as safe working conditions, 

manufacturing practices, environmental prorection, fire hazard control and 

disposai of hazardous or potentially hazaraous substances. There can be no 

assurance that the Company will not be required to incur significant costs to 

comply with such laws and regulations in ihe future or that such laws 




or regulations w ~ l lnot nave a material adverse effect upon the Ccrnpany's 

ability tc do business. 


DEPENDENCE ON LICENSES; POTENTIAL NEED FOR STRATEGIC FARTNERS. 


The Company has obtained, and may need to obtain in the future, 

licensed rights to certam proprietary technologies from other entizies, 

individuals and research institutions to which it is, or will be, obligated to 

pay royalties and milestcne payments if it ceveiops products based upon E k e  
licensed technology. The Company has a worldwide, sublicensable, exclusive 

license from the Hutchinson Center to certain patent rights related to its cell 

selection technology, which constitutes the Company's core technology for its 

current products and certaic future products currently under development. There 

can be no assurance that the Company will be able to enter into additional 

collaborative, license or other arrangements that the Company deems necessary or 

appropriate to develop, commercialize and market its products, or that any or 

all of the contemplated benefits from such collaborative, license or other 

arrangements will be realized. Certaln of the collaborative, license or other 

arrangements that the Company may enter into in the future may place 

responsibility on the Company's partners or collaborators for preclinical 

testing and human clinical trials and for the preparation and submission of 

applications for regulatory approval for potenrial diagnostic or therapeutic 

products. Should any strategic partner fail to develop, commercialize or market 

successfully any product to which it has rights, the Company's business, 

financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely 

affected. There can be no assurance that partners or collaborators will timely 

perform their obligations under any such arrangemenzs or will not pursue 

alternative technoiogies or products either on their own or in collaboration 

with others, including the Company's competitors, as a means for developing 

products that compete with the Company's products. 


OPERATING LOSSES. 


The Company has generated modest revenues from product sales, but 

these revenues have not been sufficient to cover its operating expenses. The 

Company is substantially dependent upon external financing and interest income 

to pursue its present and intended business activities. The Company has not been 

profitable since inception and has incurred a cumulative net loss of 

approximately $1 16.5 million through March 31,  1997. Losses have resulted 
principally from costs incurred in research and development activities, clinical 

trials, marketing and product introduction expenses and from general and 

administrative coscs. The Company expects to continue to incur substantial 

expenses in the future to support its operations. The Company's results of 

operarrions may vary significantly from quarter to quarter during this period of 

aevelopment and the Company expects to continue to incur net operating losses 

during this period. 


The Company's ability to achieve profitability is dependent on ~ t s  

ability to successfully market and sell its products, to develop and obtain 

patent protection and regulatory approval for its products and to manufacture 

its products in a cost-effective manner. There can be no assurance that the 

Company will successfully develop, commercialize, patent, manufacture or market 

its products, obtain required requlatory approvals, or achieve profitability. 


FUTURE CAPITAL, XEEDS; POTENTIAL INABILITY TO ACCESS CAPITAL MARKETS 


The Company will continue to expend substantial funds on research and 

development and commercialization efforts, including capital expenditures, for 

its products. The Company may require additional funds for these purposes and 

may seek such funds through additional equity financings, debt financings, 

collaborative arrangements with corporate partners or from other sources. No 

assurance can be given that such additional funds will be available to the 

Company on acceptable terms or on a timely basis, if at all. Lack of adequate 

funds from operations or additional sources of financing may have a material 

adverse impacr on the Company. 




RELIANCE ON KEY PERSOWEL 

The Company i s  h i g h l y  dependent apon Ehe e f f o r t s  of i ts  s e n i o r  
management and s c i e n t i f i c  team. The l o s s  of t h e  s e r v l c e s  of  one o r  more of  t h e s e  
ind iv idua ls  could impede r h e  achievement cf  i t s  business  and development 
ob jec t ives .  Because of t h e  s p e c i a l i z e d  s c i e n t i f i c  na ture  of t h e  Company's 
business ,  the  Company is  a i s o  h i g h l y  dependenr upon i t s  a b i l i t y  t o  con t inue  t o  
a t t r a c t  and r e r a i n  q u a l i f i e d  s c i e n t i f i c  and t e c h n ~ c a i  personnei .  There is  
i n t e n s e  competition f o r  q u a l i f i e d  personnei  i n  t h e  a r e a s  of  t h e  Company's 
a c t i v i t i e s ,  and t h e r e  can be no assurance t h a t  t h e  Company w i l l  be a b l e  t o  
cont inue t o  a t t r a c t  and r e t a i n  t h e  q u a l i f i e d  personnel  necessary  f o r  t h e  
development of i t s  b u s i n e s s .  Loss of t h e  s e r v i c e s  o f ,  o r  f a i l u r e  t o  r e c r u i r ,  key 
management, s c i e n t i f i c  and t e c h n i c a l  personnel  could adverse ly  a f f e c t  t h e  
Company's bus iness .  

RISKS ASSOCIATED W I T H  INTERNATIONAL SALES. 

Due t o  r e g u l a t o r y  c o n s t r a i n t s  i n  t h e  U.S., t h e  Company's s a l e s  e f f o r t s  
f o r  t h e  CEPRATE(R) SC System were l i m i t e d  t o  i n t e r n a t i o n a l  markets p r i o r  t o  
December 6, 1996. The Company a n t i c i p a t e s  t h a t ,  even though i t  ob ta ined  FDA 
approval t o  s e l l  t h e  CEPRATE(R) SC System i n  t h e  U . S .  i n  December 1 9 9 6 ,  
i n t e r n a t i o n a l  s a l e s  w i l l  con t inue  t o  c o n s t i t u t e  a  s i g n i f i c a n t  p a r t  of  i t s  
business .  A number of r i s k s  a r e  i n h e r e n t  i n  i n t e r n a t i o n a l  o p e r a t i o n s  and 
t ransacr ions .  I n t e r n a t i o n a l  s a l e s  and o p e r a t i o n s  may be l i m i t e d  o r  d i s r u p t e d  by 
t h e  imposi t ion of government c o n t r o l s ,  exporr  l i c e n s e  requirements ,  p o l i t i c a l  
i n s t a b i l i t y ,  t rade  r e s t r i c ~ i o n s ,  changes i n  t a r i f f s  ana d i f f i c u l t i e s  i n  
s t a f f i n g ,  coord ina t ing  anc  managing i n t e r n a t i o n a l  opera t ions .  ? .ddi t ionai ly,  t h e  
Company's business ,  f i n a n c i a l  c o n d i t i o n  and r e s u l t s  of  o p e r a t i o n s  may be 
adversely a f f e c t e d  by f l u c t u a t i o n s  i n  i n t e r n a t i o n a l  cur rency  exchange r a t e s  a s  
wel l  a s  c o n s t r a i n t s  on t h e  Company's a b i l i t y  t o  maintain o r  i n c r e a s e  p r i c e s .  The 
i n t e r n a t i o n a l  na ture  of t h e  Company's bus iness  s u b j e c t s  i t  and i t s  
r e p r e s e n t a t i v e s ,  agen ts  and d i s t r i b u t o r s  t o  laws and r e g u l a t i o n s  of t h e  f o r e i g n  
j u r i s d i c t i o n s  i n  which t h e y  o p e r a t e  o r  t h e  Company's products  a r e  s o l d .  The 
regula t ion  of medical dev ices  i n  a number of such j u r i s d i c t i o n s ,  p a r t i c u l a r l y  i n  
t h e  European Union, con t inues  t o  develop and t h e r e  can be no assurance t h a t  new 
laws o r  regu la t ions ,  o r  new i n t e r p r e t a t i o n s  of e x i s t i n g  laws and r e g u l a t i o n s ,  
w i l l  not have a  m a t e r i a l  adverse  e f f e c t  on t h e  Company's bus iness ,  f i n a n c i a l  
condit ion and r e s u l t s  of o p e r a t i o n s .  In a d d i t i o n ,  t h e  laws of c e r t a i n  f o r e i g n  
count r ies  do not p r o t e c t  t h e  Company's i n t e l l e c t u a l  p roper ty  r i g h t s  t o  t h e  same 
ex ten t  a s  do t h e  laws of t h e  U.S. There can be no assurance t h a t  t h e  Company 
w i l l  be ab le  t o  s u c c e s s f u l l y  f u r t h e r  commercialize i ts  c u r r e n t  products  o r  
s u c c e s s f u l l y  commercialize any f u t u r e  products  i n  any i n t e r n a t i o n a l  market.  

RISK OF LIABILITY;  ADEQUACY OF INSURrWCE COVERAGE. 

Inherent  i n  t h e  manufacturing and d i s t r i b u t i o n  of t h e  Company's 
products i s  t h e  r i s k  of f i n a n c i a l  exposure t o  product l i a b i l i t y  c la ims  i n  t h e  
event t h a t  t h e  use of i t s  produc ts  r e s u l t s  i n  personal  i n j u r y .  Although t h e  
Company has not experienced any c la ims  t o  d a t e ,  t h e r e  can be no assurance t h a t  
t h e  Company w i l l  not exper ience  l o s s e s  due t o  product l i a b i l i t y  c la ims  i n  t h e  
f u t u r e .  Although t h e  Company i s  p r e s e n t l y  covered by genera l  l i a b i l i t y  insurance 
(which inc ludes  coverage f o r  product and c l i n i c a l  t r i a l  l i a b i l i t y )  i n  t h e  amount 
of $5,000,000 p e r  occurrence and $5,000,000 i n  t h e  aggregate ,  t h e r e  can be no 
assurance t h a t  such insurance  coverage w i l l  provide s u f f i c i e n t  funds t o  s a t i s f y  
judgments which, i n  t h e  f c t u r e ,  may be e n t e r e d  aga ins t  t h e  Company o r  t h a t  such 
insurance w i l l  cont inue t o  be a v a i l a b l e  o r  s u f f i c i e n t  i n  t h e  f u t u r e .  In  
add i t ion ,  t h e r e  can be no assurance  t h a t  a l l  of t h e  a c t i v i t i e s  encompassed 
wi th in  the Company's b u s i n e s s  a r e  covered under t h e  Company's p o l i c i e s .  The 
Company may requi re  i n c r e a s e d  product  l i a b i l i t y  coverage a s  it i n c r e a s e s  i t s  
commercial a c t i v i t i e s  i n  t h e  U.S. and i n t e r n a t i o n a l l y .  Furthermore, t h e r e  can be 
no assurance t h a t  t h e  Company w i l l  have s u f f i c i e n t  resources  t o  s a t i s f y  any 
l i a b i l i t y  o r  l i t i g a t i o n  expenses t h a t  may r e s u l t  from any un insured  o r  
underinsured claims.  Any c l a i m s  o r  s e r i e s  of  c la ims  a g a i n s t  t h e  Company, 
regard less  of t h e i r  mer i t  o r  e v e n t u a l  outcome, could have a  m a t e r i a l  adverse 
e f f e c t  on t h e  Company's bus iness ,  f i n a n c i a l  condi t ion  and r e s u i t s  of o p e r a t i o n s .  



ITEM 2. PROFERTIES 


The Company currently leases a total of approxlmately 148,000 square 

feet in three facl;izles In Botheil, Xashington. The Ccmpany's heaaquarters are 

located In a 9 0 , C 0 3  square foot leasea faclllty. TP.is facllity houses research 
and development, sales and mar~eting, and adm~nistrative act~vities. The lease 

is for a 10-year cer? and expires In August 2003 with opticns to renew for zp to 

three additional c-zsecurive fi-/e-year rerms. Xanufactcrrng activities are 

located in a leasea lac~lity featuring a clean room and biologics manufacturing 

capabilities. This fat-lity includes approximately 23,000 square feet. The lease 

expires October i997, with optlons to exrend fcr five additional years. This 

option has been exercised. The Company's original headquarters and research 

facllity lncludes approxlmately 35,000 square feet. The Company has subleased 

this facility. This lease will explre in October 1997. Also, the Company has 

leased office space in Brussels, aelqium for its European headquarters. T5,e 

lease expires in February 2002, with an option to terminate in February 1999. 


ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 


(a)At March 31, 1997, the Company established a liability of $17 mlllion to 

cover potential losses from, ana future expenses for pursuing, ongoing patent 

litigation in whicn the Company 1s accused of infringing two patents owned by 

the Johns Hopkins gnlverslty and licensed to Baxter Healthcare Corporation and 

Becton Dickinson 6 Company (Hopkins, Saxter and Becton here~nafter belng 

collectively referred to as "plaintiffs"). While management is optimistic zhat 

the Company wlil ~ltimacely prevail In this dispute, the course of litigation is 

inherently uncertarn and there can be no assurance of a favorable outcome. The 

liability has been recorded In recognltion of the fact that aaverse Court 

rulings on liability, and an adverse jury verdict, have been rendered at the 

District Court level and that the entry of a District Court judgment agalnst the 

Company, in the near term, appears highly likely. The ultimate amount of loss, 

~f any, and the u1Z;nate amount of future expenses Incurred in pursulng this 

litigation, may vary significanciy from the amount accrued. 


There have been rwo jury trials in the case. In the first trial, a jury 

on August 4, 1995, found in favor of CellPro on all counts. The verdlct stated 

that the four patents then in suit were not infringed by CellPro's manufacrure, 

use and sale of the CEPRATE(R) SC System or the CEPRATE(R) LC System. 

Additionally, the jury found that the claims of the patents asserted against 

CellPro were invalid. 


Post-trial notions were filed and, on July 1, 1996, the U.S. District 

Court for the Distrlcc of Delaware (per J ~ d g e  Roderick R. McKelvieJ partially 

granted plainriffs' motion for Iudgment as a matter of law as to the issues of 

~nfringement, inducement of infringement and enablement with respect to U.J. 

Patent No. 4,965,680, as well as the issue of induced infringement with respect 

to U.S. Patenc No. 5,130,144. The Court ordered a new trial on remaining 

liability ana infrl-gemenc issues. 


In a serles of decisions preceding the new trial, Judge McKelvie 

granted motions by the plaintiffs to aismiss CellPro's remaining liability and 

infringement defenses. Plaintiffs moved to withdraw two of the four patents from 

sult, whlch motlon was granted upon plaintrffs' undertaking that they wouid not 

accuse any present product of CellPro of infringing those patents. 


A second jury trial was held in March, 1997, at which the jury was 

instructed to the effect that the Court had already determined that CellPro 

infringed the two patents remaining in suit, that its defenses had been 

dismissed, and that the jury was bound by those determinations. Hence, the jury 

at the second trial heard evidence and arguments only as to the amount of 

damages to be awarced and as to whether CellPro's conduct had been willful. On 

March 11, 1997, the jury reached a verdict finding willfulness and awarding some 

$2.3 million in damages to plaintiffs. 


A fical judgment has not yet been rendered at the District Court level. 

Still pending are aecisions as to whether enhanced damages will be awarded, as 

to whether and on wnat terms an znlunctlon will be 




granted against Cellpro's prrnclpal products, as to whether an award reimbursing 

plaintiffs for attorney fees wlll be granted, and as to whether CellPro will be 

allowed to proceed further on lts defense that the patents are unenforceable for 

misuse by reason of an attempt by the plaintiffs to extend the reach of their 

patents beyond the territory of the U.S. Also pending for decision is CellProts 

alternative motion for a stay, pending appeal, of any permanent injunctions the 

Court may enter against CellPro. 


The Company intends to challenge the second jury's verdict on 

post-trial motions and, if necessary, on appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for 

the Federal Circuit. The Company further intends to puxsue vigorously an appeal 

in the Court from all adverse rulings heretofore and hereafter made by the 

District Court. The Company plans to urge that reversible errors were made by 

the Court in trying this case, that the second jury's verdict is contrary to the 

evidence and law, and that the first jury's verdict should be reinstated and 

judgment entered thereon. Additionally, the Company has requested that the 

Department of Health and Human Services exercise its "march-in" rights under the 

Bayh-Dole Act 35 U.S.C. 200 et. seq. and grant the Company a license to the 

technology in dispute. 


The antitrust and unfair competition claims filed by CellPro against 

the plaintiffs have been stayed pending completion of the patent litigation. 


The Company may incur substantial expenses in excess of the amount 

accrued at March 31, 1997 in connection with this litigation. These expenses 

could have a material effect on the company's results of operations and 

financial position in future periods. Additionally, as a result of this 

litigation, an injunction could be granted and, if granted, the Company could be 

prohibited from selling its principal products. The granting of an injunction 

would materially disrupt the Company's business. See also "Investment 

Considerations--Legal Proceedings," above. 


(b) No material legal proceedings were terminated in the fourth quarter of 

fiscal 1997. 


ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth 

quarter ended March 31, 1997. 




PART I1 


ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 


CellPro common stock trades on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol 

CPRO. As of March 31, 1997, there were approximately 285 holders of record of 

the Company's common stock. The Company has never paid any cash dividends and 

does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The 

Company intends to retain future earnings and capital for use in its busmess. 


The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices 

of the Common Stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Stock Market for the fiscal years 

ended March 31,1997 and 1996. 


High LOW 


4th Quarter 

3rd Quarter 

2nd Quarter 

1st Quarter 


High L O W  

4th Quarter 

3rd Quarter 

2nd Quarter 

1st Quarter 




------------- ------------- ------------- 

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 


STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 


Costs and expensea: 
cost of product s a l e s  5 , 1 6 1 , 3 8 9  3 .723 ,  1 2 1  Z.429.573 1 , 2 6 6 , 8 4 0  2 8 6 , 1 1 4  
Rarearch and development 16 .243 .501  16 ,474 .  133 15 ,417 ,  405 9.944.  617 9.215,  430 
s e l l l n q ,  q e n c r a l  b adnun .  1 5 , 3 7 9 , 6 5 0  12 ,515 .870  9 , 1 7 7 , 5 0 5  6 , 2 2 4 , 7 0 6  3 , 4 3 9 , 9 2 1  
L l t l q a c i o n  p r o v l r ~ o n  17 ,000 .000  3 , 9 2 6 , 5 3 0------------- ..-----------

Other lncomc lexpensel: 
I n t e r e s t  lncome 1 , 5 9 0 , 1 5 7  4,164,218 3 ,766 ,173  2 ,178 ,817  1 ,431 .  929 
I~teceste x p e n s e  146 ,053 t 186,718) (157 ,034)  1205 ,836)  1210. 787)  
other. net  (337 ,3221  139 ,679  213 ,479  130.0521 

~ o c . 1  ocher rncome 3 , 2 0 6 , 7 8 2  1 , 9 4 2 ,  927 1 ,221 ,  142 ------------- .--------...-..-----------
4.217,  179  3 ,822 ,618  ------------- -------------

BALANCE SHEET DATA: 


Cash. cash equlvalenta 5 54 .043 .175  5 74 .  143 .851  5 61 ,649 ,630  5 95.505.030 S 5 5 , 8 9 8 , 9 9 4  
an4 r ca rke r&le  
I t C U t l t l C I  

Total a s s e t s  7 6 , 1 2 3 , 6 9 1  97,  341,349 89 ,512 ,935  1 1 0 , 6 1 6 , 3 2 1  62 ,163 ,416  
Long-term debt. nec of 

c u r r e n c  porrlon 152 .943  208 ,001  486.428 754 ,719  870.957 
Total stockholders' equlty 52 ,700 ,648  92 .213 .233  80.760.680 99 ,376 ,201  57 ,361 ,564  

ITEM 7 .  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS 


Except for disclosures that report the Company's historical results, 

the statements set forth :n this section are forward-Looking statements. Actual 

results may differ materially from rhose projected in the forward-looking 

statements. Additional information concerning factors that may cause actual 

results to differ materially from those in the forward-looiting statemenrs is 

contained herein under t>e caption "Investment Considerations" for the fiscal 

year ended March 31, 1997 and in the Company's other filings wlth the Securities 

and Exchange Commission. Xeaders are cautioned noe to place undue reliance on 

these forwara-Looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. 


Since the commencement of operations in 1989, the Company has primarily 

engaged in developing, manufacturing and marketing proprietary continuous-flow, 

cell-selection syscems. These systems may be used for a variety of therapeutic, 

diagnostic and research applicat~ons. On Decemaer 6, 




1996, the U.S. FDA gran~ed marketing approval for CellPrc's CEPRATZ!X) C System 
f3r purification of stem ceils for bone marrow transplantation. The CZ??ATE[R) 

SC System has also received marketing approval througnout the 18-natlcn Zuropean 

Economic Area and Canaaa. 


The Company's acrivities have been funded primarily by raisir.g 
approximately $153 million throcgn the saie of Cbm0n Stock, including two 

public offerings and two prlvate offerings to Coranqe International Linited 

("Coranqe"), and $9.7million through private sales of Preferred Stock ~ r i o r  to 

the Company's initial public offering. The Company has been unprofitabie since 

inception and expects to incur additional operating lcsses for at least the next 

few years. For the period from inception to March 31, 1997, tne Company incurred 

a cumulative net loss of approximateiy $116.5 million. 


The Company's first commercial product, the CE?RATE(R) LC System, was 

introduced in October 1991 and is beinq sold on a world-wide basis for various 

research applications. Additionally, the Company commenced sales of its 

CEPRATE(R) SC System for certain therapeutic purposes in Europe in August 1993 

and in the U.S. in January 1097. The CEPRATE(R) SC System is also being sold in 

Canada, South America and Asia-Pacific. The Company expects to continue to incur 

substantial expenses to support its operations, including the costs of 

preclinical and clinical studies, manufactur-nq scale-up costs and the expansion 

of its sales and marketing organization. The Company's results of operations may 

vary significantly from quarter to quarter during this period of development and 

the Company expeccs to continue to incur net operating losses during this 

period. 


RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 


YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 1997, 1996, AND 1995 

PRODUCT SALES 


Product sales increased to $9.5 million in the fiscal year ended March 

31, 1997 ("fiscal 1997"), from $6.8 million In the fiscal year ended March 31, 

1996 ("fiscal l996"), and $4.2 million In the fiscal year ended March 31, 1995 

("fiscal 1995"). Additional sales of the CEPRATECR) SC System were primarily 

responsible for the increase. 


In July 1995, the CEPRATE [ R )  SC System was approved for commercial sale 
in the European Economic Area. This opened up several new markets and expanded 

access to those which were already being served in Europe. European sales 

increased 2 6 % ,  to $6.8 mlllion, in fiscal 1997, from $5.3 million in fiscal 
1996. This was fueled by a 41% increase in CEPRATE(R) SC System unit sales. The 
fiscal 1996 European sales represented a 46% increase from fiscal 1995 saies of 

$3.7 million with a 40% increase in CEPFWTE(R) SC System units sold. "ese sales 

are denominated in various European ccrrencies. As a result, product saies have 

been and will continue to be affected by changing currency exchange rates. 


During January 1997, the Company commenced commercial shipmenrs of the 

CEPRATE(R1 SC System in the U.S. Beginninq in fiscal 1996, the product had been 

offered for sale, on a limited basis, for investigational use in the S.S .  under 
a cost recovery program. The CEPRATEIR) SC System is also available for sale in 

Canada and key Latin American and Asia-Pacific countries. During fiscai 1997, 

1996 and 1995, combined U.S. and exporc sales to Asia-Pacific, Canada and South 

America totaled $2.7 million, $1.5 million, and $560,000, respectiveiy. The 

increase between 1997 and 1996 resulced from increased cost recovery azd export 

sales of CE?RATE(R) SC Systems, and initial commercial sales in the U.S. The 
increase from fiscal 1995 to fiscai 1996 resulted from initiation of both cost 

recovery sales in the U.S. and export sales in Asia-Pacific, Canada, and South 

America. 




RELATED PARTY REVENUES 

Related par ry  revenue for f i s c a i  1996 c c n s i s t e d  of  $6 mlllFon f o r  p r i o r  
research  and development s e r v i c e s  rece ived  from Corange a s  p a r t  of  a  
modi f ica t ion  of business  arrangements between Cel lPro  and Corange p r e v i o u s l y  
e s t a b l i s h e d  i n  December i993. 

COST OF PRODUCT SALES 

Cost of product s a i e s  was $5.2 m i l l i o n ,  $3.7 m i l l i o n ,  and $2.4 million 
f o r  f i s c a l  1997, 1996, and 1995, r e s p e c t i v e i y .  As nored above, these  i n c r e a s e s  
a r e  r e l a t e d  t o  higher  s a i e s  volumes. The Coapany's q r o s s  margin percentage 
improved s l i g h t l y  from f i s c a l  1996 t o  f i s c a l  1997. The s t r e n g t h  i n  t h e  U . S .  
d o l l a r  reduced t h e  average European s e l l i n g  p r i c e  f o r  t h e  Company's p roduc ts ,  
which was o f f s e t  by lower European d i s t r i b u t i o n  c o s t s .  During t h e  q u a r t e r  ended 
December 31, 1996, t h e  Company d i scont inued  a c o n t r a c t  d i s t r i b u t i o n  arrangement 
i n  Europe and began distributing i t s  p roducrs  d i r e c t l y .  The Company's q r o s s  
p r o f i t  was higher  i n  f i s c a l  :996 than i n  f i s c a l  1995 due t o  t h e  favorab le  mix of 
CEPRATE(R) SC System s a l e s  and h igher  average European s e l l i n g  p r i c e s  i n  f i s c a l  
1996 than i n  f i s c a l  1995. 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

Research and development expenses r o t a l e d  $16.2 m i l l i o n  i n  f i s c a l  1997, 
c o n s i s t e n r  with t h e  $16.5 m i l l i o n  l e v e l  in f i s c a i  1996. In f i s c a l  1995, t h e s e  
expenses t o t a l e d  $15.4 m i l l i o n .  The i n c r e a s e  from f i s c a l  1995 t o  f i s c a l  1996 
r e s u l t e d  from t h e  commencement of t h e  Company's second Phase 111 c l i n i c a l  t r i a l ,  
which began i n  f i s c a l  1995, and from a cewly c r e a t e d  c o i l a b o r a r i o n  wi th  Corixa 
Corporat ion t o  develop T-lymphocyte therapies t o  t r e a t  cancer .  P a t i e n t  a c c r u a l  
was completed i n  t h e  Phase I11 t r i a l  dur ing  f i s c a l  1997. The Corixa 
c o l l a b o r a t i o n  is on-going. 

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE 

S e l l i n g ,  genera l  and a d m i n i s t r a t i v e  expenses t o t a l e d  $15.4 m i l l i o n ,  
$12.5 m i l l i o n  and $9.2 m i l l i o n  i n  f i s c a l  1997, 1996 and 1995, r e s p e c t i v e l y .  The 
i n c r e a s e  from f i s c a l  1996 t o  f i s c a l  1997 a s  w e l l  a s  the  i n c r e a s e  from f i s c a l  
1995 t o  f i s c a l  1996 r e s u l t e d  from h igher  l e g a l  f e e s  and increased  s a l e s  and 
marketing expenses. Higher l e g a l  f e e s  were i n c u r r e d  t o  defend the  Company i n  
pa ten t  l i t i g a t i o n  a s s e r t e d  by Baxter  Hea l thcare  Corporat ion,  Becton Dickenson & 
Co. and Johns Hopkins Univers i ty  a g a i n s t  t h e  Company, a s  descr ibed  below. 
Increased s a l e s  and marketing expenses r e s u l t e d  from expanded commercial izat ion 
a c t i v i t i e s  f o r  t h e  CEPRATE(R) SC System i n  t h e  U . S . ,  Europe, t h e  Middle Eas t ,  
Canada, Asia/  P a c i f i c  and Lat in America. 

INTEREST INCONE 

The Company generated $ 3 . 6  m i l l i o n ,  $4 .2  m i l l i o n  and $3.8 m i l l i o n  of 
i n t e r e s t  income during t h e  f i s c a l  y e a r s  ended March 31, 1997, 1996 and 1995, 
r e s p e c t i v e l y .  The decrease from f i s c a l  1996 t o  f i s c a l  1997 was due t o  lower 
average cash balances a v a i l a b l e  f o r  i n v e s t c e n t  i n  f i s c a l  1997 than i n  f i s c a l  
1996. The i n c r e a s e  i n  f i s c a l  1996 over  f i s c a l  1995 was due t o  higher  i n t e r e s t  
r a t e s  received on such cash balances i n  f i s c a l  1996. Average cash rese rves  were 
h igher  i n  f i s c a l  1996 due t o  t h e  J u l y  31, 1995 modi f ica t ion  of t h e  Corange 
c o l l a b o r a t i o n ,  which r e s u l t e d  i n  an i n f u s i c r :  of  $30 m i l l i o n  of cash from t h e  
s a l e  of  Common Stock and revenue f o r  p a s t  r e s e a r c h  and development. Average cash 
rese rves  were augmented i n  f i s c a l  1995 wich t h e  $60 m i l l i o n  i n  proceeds from t h e  
Company's s a l e  of  Common Stock t o  Corange arid a commitment payment rece ived  from 
Corange l a t e  i n  f i s c a l  1994. 

LITIGATION PROVISION 


A t  March 31, 1997, the  Company e s r a b l i s k e d  a l i a b i l i t y  of $17 m i l l i o n  
t o  cover  p o t e n t i a l  l o s s e s  from, and f u t u r e  expenses f o r  pursuing, ongoing p a t e n t  
l i t i g a t i o n  i n  which the  Company is accused = f  i n f r i n g i n g  two p a t e n t s  owned by 
t h e  Johns Hopkins Univers r ty  and l i c e n s e d  r o  Baxcer Heal thcare 



Corporation ana Becton Oickinson h Company (Hcpklns,  3 a x t e r  and Becton 
hereinafter be lng  c o l i e c t l v e i y  r e f e r r e d  t o  a s  " p l a i n c l f f s " 1 .  While management is  
o p t l m l s t i c  t h a t  t h e  Company wi;l ultimately p r e v a i l  i n  t h i s  d i s p u t e ,  t h e  course  
of l i t l g a t l o n  1s m h e r e n r l y  uncertain and t h e r e  can be  no a s s u r a n c e  of a  
favorab le  outcome. The l i a b i l i t y  has been recorced  i n  recognition of t h e  f a c t  
t h a t  adverse  Cour t  r u l i n g s  or. l i a b i l i t y ,  and a n  adverse  j u r y  v e r d y c t ,  have been 
rendered a c  t h e  D i s t r i c t  Court l e v e l  an0 t h a t  t h e  e n c r y  of a D i s t r i c t  Court  
judgment a g a l n s c  t h e  Company, l n  t h e  near cerm, a p p e a r s  h i g h l y  l i k e l y .  The 
~ l t i m a t e  amount of l o s s ,  i f  any, and t h e  ultirna-e amount of  f u t u r e  expenses  
i n c u r r e a  i n  pursu lng  t h i s  l i t i g a t i o n ,  may vary  s i g n ~ f i c a n t l y  from t h e  amount 
accrued.  

There have been two jury  t r i a l s  i n  t h e  c a s e .  In  t h e  f i r s t  t r i a l ,  a j u r y  
on August 4 ,  1995. found i n  favor  of Cel lPro  on a l l  c o u n t s .  The verdic: s t a t e d  
t h a t  t h e  f o u r  p a r e n t s  then  i n  s u l t  were n o t  I n f r i n g e d  by C e l l P r o ' s  manufacture,  
use and s a l e  of t h e  CEPRATEIR) SC System o r  t h e  CEPRATEIR) LC System. 
A d d i t i o n a l l y ,  t h e  ]ury  found t h a t  t h e  c la ims  of  t h e  p a t e n t s  a s s e r t e d  a g a i n s t  
Cel lPro  were i n v a l i d .  

P o s t - t r i a l  motions were f i l e d  and, on J u l y  1, 1996, t h e  U.S. D i s t r i c t  
Court f o r  t h e  D i s t r i c t  of  Delaware ( p e r  Judge Roderick R. McKelvie) p a r t i a l l y  
gran ted  p l a i n t i f f s '  motion f o r  judgment a s  a  m a t t e r  of  law a s  t o  t h e  i s s u e s  of  
in f r ingement ,  inaucement of infr inqement and enablement w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  U.S. 
Pa ten t  No. 4,965,680, a s  w e l l  a s  t h e  i s s u e  of  induced inf r ingement  w i t h  r e s p e c t  
t o  U.S. P a t e n t  No. 5,130,144. The Court o rdered  a new t r i a l  on remaining 
l i a b i l i t y  and inf r ingement  i s s u e s .  

In  a  s e r l e s  of d e c i s i o n s  preceding t h e  new t r i a l ,  Judge McKelvie 
gran ted  motions by t h e  p l a i n t i f f s  t o  d i smiss  C e i l P r o ' s  remaining l i a b i l i t y  and 
inf r inqement  defenses .  Plaintiffs moved t o  wlthdraw t x o  of  t h e  f o u r  p a t e n t s  from 
s u i t ,  whlch motion was g r a n t e d  upon p l a i n t i f f s '  under tak ing  t h a t  t h e y  would n o t  
accuse any  p r e s e n t  p roduct  of  Cel lPro  of  i n f r r n g i n g  t h o s e  p a t e n t s .  

A second j u r y  t r i a l  was he ld  i n  March, 1997, a t  which t h e  j u r y  was 
i n s t r u c t e d  t o  t h e  e f f e c t  t h a t  t h e  Court had a l r e a d y  de te rmined  t h a t  C e l l P r o  
I n f r i n g e d  t h e  two p a t e n t s  remalninq In  s u l t ,  t h a t  ~ t sd e f e n s e s  had been 
dismissed,  and t h a t  t h e  ju ry  was bound by those  d e t e r m i n a t i o n s .  Hence, t h e  j u r y  
a t  t h e  second t r i a l  heard  evldence and arguments o n l y  a s  t o  t h e  amount of 
damages t o  be awarded and a s  t o  whether C e l l P r o ' s  conduct  had been w i l l f u i .  On 
March I!, 1997. t h e  j u r y  reached a v e r d l c t  f i n d i n g  w i l l f u l n e s s  and awarding some 
$2.3 m i l l i o n  i n  damages t o  p l a i n t l f f s .  

A f i n a l  judgment has not y e t  been rendered  a t  t h e  D i s t r i c t  Court  l e v e l .  
S t i l l  pending a r e  d e c i s i o n s  a s  t o  whether enhanced damages will be  awarded, a s  
t o  whether and on what terms an injunction w i l l  be g r a n t e d  a g a i n s t  C e l l P r o ' s  
principal products ,  a s  t o  whether an award reimbursing p l a i n t i f f s  f o r  a c t o r n e y  
f e e s  w i l l  be  g r a n t e d ,  and a s  t o  whether Cel lPro  w i l l  be  a l lowed t o  proceed 
f u r t h e r  on i ts  defense  t h a t  t h e  p a t e n t s  a r e  unenforceable  f o r  misuse by reason 
of an a t t e m p t  by t h e  p l a i n t l f f s  t o  extend t h e  reach o f  t h e i r  p a t e n t s  beyond t h e  
t e r r i t o r y  of t h e  U.S. Also pending f o r  d e c i s i o n  is C e l l P r o ' s  a l t e r n a t i v e  n o t i o n  
f o r  a s t a y ,  pending appea i ,  of any permanent 1njunct:ons t h e  Cour t  may e n t e r  
a g a i n s t  Cel lPro .  

The Company i n t e n d s  t o  cha l lenge  t h e  second j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  on 
. p o s t - t r i a l  motions and, i f  necessary,  on appea l  t o  t h e  U.S. Court  of  Appeals  f o r  
the  Federa l  C i r c u i t .  The Company f u r t h e r  i n t e n d s  t o  pursue  v i g o r o u s l y  an appea l  
i n  t h e  Court  from a l l  adverse  r u l i n g s  h e r e t o f o r e  and h e r e a f t e r  made by t h e  
D i s t r i c t  Court .  The Company p l a n s  t o  urge t h a t  r e v e r s i b l e  e r r o r s  were made by 
t h e  Court  i n  t r y i n g  t h i s  case ,  t h a t  t h e  second j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  is c o n t r a r y  t o  t h e  
evidence and law, and t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  should  be r e i n s t a r e d  and 
yudgment e n t e r e d  thereon .  Addi t iona l ly ,  t h e  Company h a s  r e q u e s t e d  t h a t  t h e  
Department of  Hea l th  and Human S e r v i c e s  e x e r c i s e  l ts  "march-in" r i g h t s  under t h e  
Bayh-Dole Act 35 U.S.C. 2CO e t .  seq.  and g r a n t  t h e  Company a  l i c e n s e  t o  t h e  
technology i n  d i s p u t e .  

The a n t i t r u s t  and u n f a i r  competi t ion c la ims  f i l e d  by C e l l P r o  a g a i n s t  
t h e  p l a i n t i f f s  have been s tayed  pending complet ion of t h e  p a t e n t  l i t i g a t i o n .  

The Company may i n c u r  s u b s t a n t i a l  expenses i n  e x c e s s  of  t h e  amount 
accrued a t  March 31, 1997 i n  connection wi th  t h i s  l i t i g a t i o n .  These expenses  
could have a m a t e r i a l  e f f e c t  on t h e  Company's r e s u l t s  of o p e r a t i o n s  and 
f i n a n c i a l  p o s i t i o n  i n  f u t u r e  p e r m d s .  A d d i t i o n a l l y ,  a s  a r e s u l t  of  t h i s  
l i t i g a t i o n ,  an i n j u n c t i o n  



muid be granted and, i f  granted, Che Company couid oe pronibited from selling 
its prlnclpal ~r0aUCtS. 75e granclng of an ~njunctlcn wouid materially disrupt 

the Company's business. 


Selling, general and administrative expense Includes $3.9 mlllion and 

$ 2 . 3  million related to this iitiqatlon for the years ended March 31, 1397 and 
1996, respectively. 


The above factors resulted ln ner operatlzg losses of S 4 0 . 9  mllllon, 
$15.7 million and $19.0 mllion In flscal 1997, 1996 and 1995, respecrrvely. 


LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 


The Company has financed its operations s1nce.inception primarily 

through the sale of Common Stock and Preferred Stock, generation of interest 

income and arrangements for equipment financing. Through March 31, 1997, the 

Company nas ralsed $73.3 mlllion througn two public offerings, $79.7 million 

through two private offerings of Common Stock, and $9.7 million from the sale of 

Preferred Stock. The Company has also generated $16.7 million in interest 

income, $22.3 million in product sales and $9.0 million in concract and related 

party revenues. 


Since inception, the Company has used $87.3 million of cash in 

operating activities and has invested $27.5 million in equipment and leasehold 

improvements. The Company has financed $3.7 million of these Investments wlth 

secured lending arrangements. 


The Company expects to incur substantial expenses in support of 

additional research and development acrivities, including rhe costs of 

preclinlcal and clinical scudies, expanslon of manufacturing activities and new 

product development. Selling, general and administrative expenses will also 

increase as the Company builds its sales and marketing organization and expands 

adrninisrracive activities in support of the Company's anticipated expanslon of 

commercial sales. 


At March 31, 1997, the Company had $54 million in casn and marketable 

securities available to meet its future working capltal needs. The Company 

anticipates that lts capltal resources should be sufficient to fund its cash 

requirements through approximately the fiscal year ending March 31, 1999. The 

preceding forward-looking statement, and those presented below, are subject to 

certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 

materially from those projected. In particular, any requirement to segregate 

slgniflcant damages in connection with ongoing patent litigation would have a 

material impact on this projection. In addition, the amount and timing of net 

expenditures of capital resources will depend on the Company's ability to 

increase product sales, the timing and extent of sales and marketing 

expendltures, including those lncurred in support of product launches, the 

results of continuing patent litigation as described above, the progress of 

ongoing research and development, the results of preclinical testing and 

clinical trials, the rate at which operating losses are incurred, the execution 

of any collaborative researcn ana development agreements, producr marketing or 

licensing agreements, or other corporate partner arrangements, the FDA 

regulatory process and other factors, many of which are beyond the Company's 

control. 


FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 


Under =he safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation 

Reform Act of 1995 (the Reform Act), the Company provides the following 

"forward-looking statements," as such term is defined in the Reform Act. Readers 

are cautioned that such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future 

performance and involve risks and uncertainties, and actual results may differ 

from those contarned in such forward-looklng statements. 


During the year ending March 31, 1998 ("fiscal 1998"), 'he Company 

expects to continue its sales and marketing efforts to launch the CEPRATE(R) SC 

System in the U.S. and expand lts use in Europe. In addition, the Company will 

launch its newest product, the CEPRATEIR) TCD System, in the European 




market and continue clinical trials of thls product in the U.S. in preparation 

for filing a PMA wlth the U.S. FDA late in 1999. The CEPRATE(R) TCD System is 

used to deplete additional T cells from transplant products initially 

concentrated using the CEPRATE(R) SC System. This.additiona1 T-cell depletion is 

believed to be important in allogeneic (donor-derived) stem cell transplants, 

such as those used in treating leukemia, particularly where mis-matched donors 

are used. 


These sales and marketing efforts, together with the anticipated 

availability of new products, may result in double-digit sales growth for fiscal 

1998. However, the Company's ability to sell its products, and conduct clinical 

trials, may be severely and permanently curtailed if an injunction is granted 

against the Company's products pursuant to the on-going patent litigation as 

described previously, under the heading "Litigation Provision." 


Research and development directed at discovering and developing new 

cellular therapy products is expected to continue in fiscal 1998. These products 

include tumor cell purging products targeted for breast cancer and lymphoma 

patients, T-cell selection products to positively select CD4 and CD8 cells to 
treat cancer and infectious diseases, and dendritic cell selection for 

immunization against cancer. In the diagnostic market, the Company is developing 

a tumor cell enrichment product for use in detecting minimal residual disease in 

cancer patients. These products are expected to enter early-stage clinical 

trials within a year. Additional information on research and development may be 

found in the sectron entitled "Product Development Programs" of the Company's 

annual report on Form 10-K. These research and development initiatives are 

subject to the availability of funding which could be negatively impacted by a 

number of factors, some of whlch have been discussed above under "Liquidity and 

Capital Resources." 


NEW PRONOUNCEMENTS 


In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued 

Financial Accounting Standard No. 128, "Earnings Per Share." This statement will 

change the computation, presentation and disclosure requirements for earnings 

per share ("EPS"). The statement will be effective for interim and annual 

reporting periods ending after December 15, 1997. This statement will replace 

"primary" EPS with "basic" EPS, the principal difference being the exclusion of 

common stock equivalents in the computation of basic EPS. In addition, this 

statement will require the dual presentatlon of basic and diluted EPS on the 

face of the consolidated statement of operations. EPS computed pursuant to this 

statement is not expected to be materially different from the historical net 

loss per share prevlousiy presented. 
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All financial statement schedules have been omitted since this 

information is not required or because the information required is 

included in the financ~al statements or notes thereto. 




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 


Board of Directors and Stockholders 


CellPro, Incorporated 


We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 

CellPro, Incorporated as of March 31, 1997 and 1996, and the related 

consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for 

each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 1997. These consolidated 

financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 

statements based on our audits. 


We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing 

standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present 

fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 

CellPro, Incorporated as of March 31, 1997 and 1996 and the consolidated results 

of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period 

ended March 31, 1997, in conformity with generally accepted accounting 

principles. 


Coopers h Lybrand, L.L.P. 
Seattle, Washington 


May 13, 1997 




CELLPRO, INCORPOR?iTED 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 


MARCH 31, 1997 AND 1 9 9 6  

ASSETS 


Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Securities available for sale 

Trade receivables 

Inventories 

Other current assets 


Total current assets 


Property and equipment, net 

Other assets 


Total assets 


LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabilities: 

Current portion of long-term debt 

Accounts payable 

Accrued liabilities 

Accrual for litigation claim and costs 


Total current liabilities 


Long-term debt, net of current portlon 


Other liabilities 


Commrtments and continqencies 


Stockholders' equity: 

Common stock, 50.001 par value; 25,000,000 shares 

authorized; 14,487,313 shares and 14,348,933 shares 

issued and outstanding respectively 


Additional paid-in capital 

Foreign currency translation 

Net unrealized loss on securities available for sale 

Accumulated deficlt 


Total StOckholderS' equity 


Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 




CELLPRO, INCORPORATED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 1 9 9 7 ,  1 9 9 6  AND 1 9 9 5  

Iroduct sales 

Related party revenue 

Contract revenue 


Total revenues 


Costs and expenses: 

Cost of product sales 

Research and development 

Sellinq, general and aaministrarive 

Litigation provision 


Total costs and expenses 


Loss from operations 


other Income (expense): 

Interest lncome 

Interest expense 

Other, net 


Total other income 


Net loss 


Net loss per share 


Weighted average number of shares 

outstanding during the period 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 




-- 
-- 
-- 

----------- 

CELLPRO, INCORPORATED 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 1997, 1996 AND 1995 


Net 
Unrealized 
Loss on 

CO-n Stock Addruonal Foreiqn Securltles 
Paxd-in curreniy Avaxlable Accumulated 

shares Par Value capital Translation for sale Deficit 

Balance at Aprll 1, :994 5 13,024 

Exerci3e of stock optlons 48 
Employee stock purchase plan --13 hmrtlzation of stock option expense 
roruiqn currency tranllation 
Net unrealzzed 1033 on s e c u n u e s  

avrllable far sale 
Net 1053 

Balance ar MdrCn 31, 1995 

Sale of c o m n  stock for cash, net 
hmrtlzacion ot XOCX optlon expense 

Exercise of stock options 

Foreign currency tranllatlon 

employee sZ0cL purchase plan 

Net vnrealrzed qain on securltlel 


available for sale 

Nst loss 


Balance at Harcn 31. 1996 


Coupensation related to optlons granted --
Exercise of stock options 124.125 

Eoreiqn currency translation --
Mployee stocx purchase plan 14.255 

Net unrealized qain on securities 


avalable for sale --
Net losa --

Balance at March 31, 1997 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 




--------------- --------------- --------------- 

--------------- --------------- --------------- 

CELLPRO, INCORPORATED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 1997, 1996, AND 1995 


Net loss 

Adjustmenrs to reconcile net loss to ner cash used 


in operstinq actxuities: 

Depreciation an= amortization 

compensation related to stock optrons 


granted 

Changes In: 


Trade receivables 

Inventories 

Other current assets 

Accounts payable 

Accrued liabilities 

Accrual for litiqar~on claim and cosca 


Net cash used in operating activities 


Invesclnq actrvities: 
Purchase of property and equipment (656,245) (742,4801 (11,107,9001 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of securrties 

available for sale 26,574,876 39,954,694 46,307,740 
Purchase of securlcies available for sale (8,475.698) (49,375,547) (38,473,106) 
Chanqe In other assets (41,9111 257,450 262,778 

Net cash provlaed by (used rnl lnvestlng actrvlties 17,401,022 (9,905,8831 (3,011,088) 

Financing activities: 

Proceeds from long-term debt 

Prlnclpal Daymencs on long-term debt 

Net proceeds from lssuance of common stock 

Other 


Net cash provlded by (used in) financing 

1,033,088 26,536,950 (256.7191
activities --------------- --------------- ---------------

Net decrease in caah and cash equivalents (2,023,2941 (107,928) (22,737,943) 


End of perlod 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 




CELLPRO, INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


1. FORMATION AND BUSINESS OF THE CSMPAWY: 


CellPro, Incorporated and Subsidiaries (the "Company" or "CellPro"), 

whose operations began ic April i989, 1s a biotechnology company, speciaiizing 
in developing, manufacturing, and marketing proprietary continuous-flow, 

cell-selection systems for use in a variety of therapeutic, diagnostic, and 

research applicaticns. The Company has Eormea several European subsidiaries to 

coordinate European marketing and clinical trials and one Australian subsidiary 

to facilitate regulatory approval in that country. On Decemoer 6. 1996, the U.S. 
Food and Drug Administration ("FDA")granted marketi~g approval for the 

Company's principal product, the CEPRATE(R) SC Stem Cell Concentration System. 

This product is also approved for use in Canada and has been granted use of the 

CE (Comrnunau~e' Europe'enne) marking, designating full marketing approval 

throughout the 18-nation European Economic Area. In fiscal years prior to 1997, 

the Company was in the development stage. 


2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 


PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION 


The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the 

Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and 

balances have been eliminared in consolidation. Foreign subsidiaries are 

consolidated on a one-month delay. 


USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE P.WPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 

accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and 

assumprions chat affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and 

accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 


Cash equivalents represent highly liquid short-term investments. The 

Company considers all short-term investments purchased with a maturity of three 

months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at 

market value. The Company maintains a portion of its cash in bank deposit 

accounts which, at times. may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has 

not experienced any losses in such accounts. The Company believes it is not 

exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents. 


SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE 


The Company's investment securities are classified as available for 

sale and carried at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are excluded from 

the statement of operations and reported as a separate component of 

stockholders' equity. Gross realized gains and losses on the sales of investment 

securities are determined on the specific identification method and are included 

in interest income. The Company's policy limits the amount of credit exposure to 

any one issuer. 


INVENTORIES 


Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is 

determined in a manner which approximates the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. 


PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 


Property and eaulpment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided 

by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets (two 

to five years). Leasehold improvemenrs are amortlzed on a straight-line 




basis over the re~.aining :err. of the related lease (one to nine years). 

Expenditures for xaincenance ana repalrs are charged to expense as incurred. 


FOREIGN CURRENCY Ttl4NSLATION 


Revenues, ccscs and expenses of the Company's international operations 

denommated in foreign currencies are translated to U.S. dollars ac average 

rates of exchange prevailing d,aring the year. Assers and liabilit-es aze 

translated at the exchange rare on the balance sheet date. Translation 

adjustments resultinc from this process are accumulated and reported in 

stockholders' equity. 


RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES 


Research and development expenditures are charged to operations as 

incurred. 


NET LOSS PER SHARE 


In accordance with the applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission, net loss per share is based upon the weighted average number of 

shares of Common Stock outstanding. Common stock equivalents have not been 

included because the effect would be anti-ailutive. 


RECLASSIFICATIONS 


Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years' consoiidated 

financial statements :o conform KO the 1997 presentation. 


3. SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE: 


The followinq table summarizes the Company's securities available for 

sale at March 31: 


1991 
..................................................................... 

Gross Gross 

Fair Unrealized Unrealized Amortized Cosc 
Value Gains Losses 

U.S. Treasury securities and 
obligations of U.S. government 
corporations and agencies 

Corporate debt securities 

C e r t i f i c a t e  of deposit 

Total 


1996 
....................................................................... 

Gross Gross 


Fair Unrealized Unrealized Amortized Cost 
Va1ue Gains Losses 


U.S. Treasury securities and 

obligations of U.S. government 

corporations and aqencies 


Corporate debt securities 


Total 




Amortized cost and market value of debt securities at March 31, 1997, 

by contractual maturity, are shown below: 


Market Value Amortized Cost 
Contractual Maturlty 

Due withln 1 year 5 23,181,678 $ 2 3 , 2 2 7 , 9 4 7  
Due after 1 year but wlthin 5 years S 15,808,693 $ 15,842,755 

Gross realized losses totaled approximately $6,300, $26,000, and 

$29,OOO for the years ended March 31, 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively. Gross 

realized gains totaled approximately $12,000 and $43,000 for the years ended 

March 31, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 


4 .  INVENTORIES:  

Inventories consisted of the following at March 31: 


Raw materlals 
work-in-process 

Finished goods 


PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT: 

Property and equipment consisted of the following at March 31: 


Laboratory and manufacturing equipment $ 2,935,605 

Computers 1,400,577 

Office Equipment 1,099,020 

mraiture 1,413,115 

Leasehold improvements 18,198,380 


Less accumulated depreciation 




ACCRUED LIABILITIES: 


Accrlled liabilities consisted of the foll~wing at March 31: 


Litigation costs 

Deferred sales tax 

Accrued cllnical trials costs 

Accrued employee compensation and benefits 

Other 


LONG-TERM DEBT: 

Long-term debt consisted of the following at March 31: 


Notes payable, collateralized by furniture and 

equipment with an original cost of 

approwlmarely 5422,000. payable in 

monthly insrallments toraling 511,745 

including Interest; final payment due 

January 1997, interest at 9.47% S S 

Capital lease obligations, payable in 111,168 

monthly installments totaling 

approximately $6,000, imputed interest 

at 10% 


191,525
Other ---------------
Total 


Less current portLon 


Net 


At March 31, 1997, aggregate required principal payments for all 

long-term debt, including capital lease obligations, for the fiscal years ending 

March 31 are as follows: 


Property and equipment includes $264,000 and $446,000, ac March 31, 

1997 and 1996, respectively, of equipment held under capital leases. 


Cash paid for ~nterest for the years enaea March 31, 1997, 1996, and 

1995 was apprcximaceiy $46,000, $87,000 and $157,000, respectively. 




8. OTHER L I M I L I I I E S :  

Other liabilities conslst of deferrea state sales tax. The sales t a x  
wlll be paid in five annual installments beginning December 31, 1998. 


9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES: 

LEASES 

The Company leases one office and one manufacturi~g facility under 
noncancelable leases whlcn explre in October i397. The Company also leases a 

research and office facil~ty under a 120-month noncancelable lease which expires 

August 2003. The lease for one facility provides for a rent increase in 1997 

based upon changes in the Consumer Price Index. 


Under the terms of the leases, the Company is responsible for its share 

of taxes, insurance and ccmon area cnarges. Tk.e leases provide the Company with 

options to renew with lease payments escalating based on changes ln the Consumer 

Price Index. 


Total rental expense was approximately $1,100,000, $1,530,000 and 

$1,400,000 for the years ended March 31, 1997, 1996 ana 1995, respectively. Net 

of sublease lncome of $418,000 and $303,000 for the years ended March 31, 1997 

and 1996, respectively. 


Future mlnimum payments on operating leases, net of sublease payments, 

are summarlzed as follows: 


Years Ending uarch 31, 


1998 

1999 

2000 

2001 

2002 


Thereafter 


LITIGATION PROVISION 


At March 31, 1997, the Company established a liability of $17 million 

to cover potential losses from, and future expenses for pursuing, ongolng patent 

litigation in which the Cospany is accused of infringing two patents owned by 

the Johns Hopkins Universiry and licensed to Baxter Healthcare Corporation and 

Becton Dickinson & Company (Hopkins, Baxter and Becton hereinafter being 
collectively referred to as "p1aint:ffs"). While management is optimistic that 

the Company wlll ultimately prevail in this dispute, the course of litigation is 

inherently uncertain and there can be no assurance of a favorable outcome. The 

liability has been made i- recognition of the fact that adverse Court rulings on 

liability, and an adverse jury verdict, have been rendered at the District Court 

level and that the entry of a Distrlct Court judgment against the Company, in 

the near term, appears highly likely. The ultimate amount of loss, if any, and 

the ultimate amount of future expenses incurred in pursuing this litigation, may 

vary significantly from tze amount accrued. 


There have been ri;o jury trials in the case. In the first trial, a jury 

on August 4, 1995, found in favor of CellPro on all counts. The verdict stated 

that the four patents rhen in suit were not infringed by CellPro's manufacture, 

use and sale of the CEPRATE(RI SC System or the CEPRATE(R) LC System. 

Additionally, the jury found that the claims of the patents asserted against 

CellPro were invalid. 


Post-trial motions were filed and, on July 1, 1996, the U.S. District 

Court for the District of gelaware (per Judge Roderick R. McKelviel partially 

granted plain~iffs' motlon for ludgment as a matter of law as to the issues of 




i n f r i n g e m e n t ,  L2ducernent o f  i n f r i n q e m e n t  a n d  enab lemen t  w i t h  r e s p e c t  t o  U.S. 
P a t e n t  No. 4 ,965 ,680 .  a s  w e l l  a s  t h e  i s s u e  o f  i n d u c e d  i n f r l n g e m e n r  w i t h  r e s p e c t  
t o  U.S.  P a t e n t  No. 5,130,144. The C o u r t  o r o e r e a  a new t r i a l  on  r e m a i n l n g  
l i a b i l i t y  a n d  i n f r i n g e m e n t  I s s u e s .  

I n  a s e r i e s  o f  decisions p r e c e a i n g  t h e  new t r i a l ,  Judge  McKelvie  
g r a n t e d  m o t l o n s  cy  t h e  p l a l n t l f f s  t o  a l s m l s s  C e l l l r o ' s  r e m a i n i n g  l i a b i l i t y  a n d  
i n f r i n g e m e n t  d e f e n s e s .  3 l a i n t r f f s  moved t o  w i t h d r a w  two o f  t h e  f o u r  p a t e n t s  f rom 
s u i t ,  which mot lon  was g r a n t e d  upon c i a i n i i f f s '  u n d e r t a k i n g  t h a t  t h e y  would n o t  
a c c u s e  a n y  p r e s e n t  p r o d u c t  o f  C e l l P r o  o f  infringing t h o s e  p a r e n t s .  

A second  ] u r y  t r i a l  was  h e l d  l n  March, 1997,  a t  wh ich  t h e  j u r y  w a s  
i n s t r u c t e d  t o  t h e  e f f e c t  t h a t  t h e  C o u r t  had  a l r e a d y  determined t h a t  C e l l P r o  
i n f r i n g e d  t h e  two p a t e n t s  r e m a i n i n g  i n  s u i t ,  t h a t  i ts  d e f e n s e s  had  b e e n  
dismissed, a n d  t h a t  t h e  j u r y  was  bound by  t h o s e  d e t e r m i n a t l o n s .  Hence, t h e  j u r y  
a t  t h e  second  t r i a l  h e a r d  e v i d e n c e  a n d  a r g u m e n t s  o n l y  a s  t o  t h e  amount c f  
damages t o  b e  awarded a n d  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  C e l l P r o ' s  c o n d u c t  had  b e e n  w i l l f u l .  On 
March 11, 1997, t h e  j u r y  r e a c h e d  a v e r d i c t  f i n d l n g  w i l l f u l n e s s  a n d  a w a r d l n g  some 
$2.3  m r l l i o n  i n  damages LO p i a i n t l f f s .  

A f i n a l  judgment h a s  n o t  y e t  b e e n  r e n d e r e d  a t  t h e  D i s t r i c t  C o u r t  l e v e l .  
S t i l l  pend ing  a r e  d e c l s l o n s  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  enhanced  damages w i l l  b e  awarded ,  a s  
t o  whe the r  a n d  on wnat  t e r m s  a n  i n j u n c t i o n  w l l l  b e  g r a n t e d  a g a i n s t  C e l l P r o ' s  
p r i n c i p a l  p r o d u c t s ,  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  a n  award  r e i m b u r s i n g  p l a l n t i f f s  f o r  a t t o r n e y  
f e e s  w l l l  b e  g r a n t e d ,  a n d  a s  t o  w h e t h e r  C e l l P r o  w i l l  b e  a l l o w e d  t o  p r o c e e d  . 
f u r t h e r  on i ts  d e f e n s e  t h a t  t h e  p a r e n t s  a r e  u n e n f o r c e a b l e  f o r  m i s u s e  b y  r e a s o n  
o f  a n  a t t e m p t  by t h e  p l a l n t i f f s  t o  e x t e n a  t h e  r e a c h  o f  t h e l r  p a t e n t s  beyond  t h e  
t e r r i t o r y  o f  t h e  U n i t e d  S t a t e s .  A l s o  p e n a i n g  f o r  d e c l s i o n  2 s  C e l l P r o ' s  
a l t e r n a t i v e  mot ion f o r  a s t a y ,  p e n a i n g  a p p e a l .  o f  a n y  permanent  i n j u n c t i o n  rF.e 
C o u r t  may e n t e r  against C e l l P r o .  

The Company i n t e n d s  t o  c h a l l e n g e  t h e  s e c o n d  j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  o n  
p o s t - t r i a l  mo t ions  and ,  i f  n e c e s s a r y ,  on  a p p e a l  :o t h e  U.S. C o u r t  o f  A p p e a l s  f o r  
t h e  F e d e r a l  C i r c u l t .  The Company f u ~ t h e r  i n t e n d s  t o  p u r s u e  v i g o r o u s l y  a n  a p p e a l  
r n  t h a t  C o u r t  from a l l  a d v e r s e  r u l i n g s  h e r e t o f o r e  a n d  h e r e a f t e r  made b y  t h e  
D i s t r i c t  C o u r t .  The Company p l a n s  t o  u r g e  t h a t  r e v e r s i b l e  e r r o r s  w e r e  made b y  
t h e  C o u r t  i n  t r y i n g  t h i s  c a s e ,  t h a t  t h e  s e c o n d  l u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  is c o n t r a r y  t o  t h e  
e v i d e n c e  a n d  t h e  law,  a n d  t h a t  t h e  f i r s t  j u r y ' s  v e r d i c t  s h o u l d  b e  r e i n s t a t e d  a n d  
judgment e n t e r e d  t h e r e o n .  

The a n t i t r u s t  and  u n f a i r  c o m p e t i t i o n  c l a i m s  f i l e d  by  C e l l P r o  a g a i n s t  
t h e  p l a i n t i f f s  have been  s t a y e d  p e n d i n g  completion o f  t h e  p a t e n t  l i t i g a t i o n .  

The Company may i n c u r  s u b s t a n t l a l  e x p e n s e s  r n  e x c e s s  o f  t h e  amount  
a c c r u e d  a t  March 31, 1997 i n  c o n n e c t i o n  w i t h  this l i t i g a t i o n .  These  e x p e n s e s  
c o u l d  have a  m a t e r i a l  e f f e c t  on t h e  Company's r e s u l t s  o f  o p e r a t i o n s  a n d  
f i n a n c i a l  p o s i t i o n  I n  f u t u r e  p e r i o d s .  A d d i t i o n a l l y ,  a s  a  r e s u l t  o f  t h i s  
l i t i g a t i o n ,  a n  i n j u n c t i o n  c o u l d  b e  g r a n t e d  and ,  i f  g r a n t e d ,  t h e  Company c o u l d  b e  
p r o h i b i t e d  from s e l l i n g  its p r i n c i p a l  p r o d u c t s .  The g r a n t i n g  o f  a n  i n j u n c t i o n  
would materially d i s r u p t  t h e  Company 's  b u s i n e s s .  

S e l l i n g ,  g e n e r a l  a n d  a d m i n i s t r a t i v e  e x p e n s e  I n c l u d e s  $ 3 . 9  m l l l i o n  a n d  
$ 2 . 3  m i l l i o n  r e l a t e d  t o  t h i s  l i t i g a t i o n  f o r  t h e  y e a r s  ended  March 31 ,  1997  a n d  
1996, r e s p e c t i v e l y .  

10. CAPITAL STOCK: 

STOCK OPTION PLAN 

I n  1989, :he Company a d o p t e d  a s t o c k  o p t i o n  p l a n  ( t h e  "Op t ion  P l a n " )  
administered by a  P l an  A d m i n i s t r a t o r  d e s i g n a t e d  by  t h e  Board o f  D i r e c t o r s .  A 
t o t a l  o f  3,155,000 s h a r e s  a r e  a v a i l a b l e  f o r  i s s u a n c e  u n d e r  t h e  P l a n .  O p t i o n s  
i s s u e d  unde r  t h e  O p t i o n  P l a n  a r e  d e s i g n a t e d  a s  e i t h e r  i n c e n t i v e  s t o c k  o p t i o n s  
("1.90s") o r  n o n q u a l i f i e d  s t o c k  o p t i o n s .  ISOs must: b e  g r a n t e d  t o  employees  a t  

minimum e x e r c i s e  p r i c e s  e q u a l  t o  t h e  f a i r  m a r k e t  v a l u e  of common s h a r e s  a t  the 
d a t e  o f  g r a n r .  N o n q u a l i f i e d  o p t i o n s  m u s t  b e  g r a n c e d  a t  rninlmum e x e r a s e  p r i c e s  
a t  l e a s t  e q u a l  t o  50% o f  f a l r  m a r k e t  v a l u e  o f  common s h a r e s  a t  t h e  d a t e  o f  
g r a n t .  o p t i o n s  g e n e r a l l y  v e s t  o v e r  a  f o u r  y e a r  p e r l o d  and  have a t e r m  o f  t e n  
y e a r s  from t h e  d a t e  o f  g r a n t .  



Stock option information with respect to all of the Company's stock 

option plans follows: 


Shares LOW High Welqhted-Average 

Balance April 1, 1994. unexercrsed S 0.10 
3ranted 9.63 
Exercised 0.10 
Forfeited 8.00 

Balance March 31, 1995, unexercised 

Granted 
Exercised 
Forfeited 

Balance March 31, 1996, unexercised 

Granted 
Exercised 
Forfeited 

Balance March 31, 1997, unexerclsed 

Pursuant to APB Opinion No. 25, the Company records for financial 

statement reporting purposes only, compensation expense equal to the difference, 

on the date of grant, between the grant price and the quoted market prlce of the 

Common stock underlying options granted. Such compensation is amortized to 

expense over the vesting period of the related options. 


At March 31, 1997, 1996 and 1995, options for a total of 991,000, 

736,000 and 900,000 shares were exercisable at weighted average prices of $9.88, 

$9.64 and $11.17 per share, respectively. 


FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES 


Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for 

Stock-Based Compensation," requires the use of option valuation models to 

provide supplemental information regarding options granted after March 31, 1995. 

Pro forma information regarding net loss and net loss per share shown below was 

determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options and 

shares sold under its stock purchase plan under the fair value method of that 

statement. 


The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in 

estimating the fair value of traded options. The Company's employee stock 

options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded 

options such as vesting restrictions and extremely limited transferability. In 

addition, the assumptions used in option valuation models (see below) are highly 

subjective, particularly the expected stock price volatility of the underlying 

stock. Because changes in these subjective input assumptions can materially 

affect the fair value estimate, in management's opinion, the existing models do 

not provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock 

options. 


For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the 

options is amortized over the options' vesting periods. The pro forma effect on 

net loss for 1997 and 1996 is not representative of the pro forma effect on 

operations in future years because it does not take into consideration pro forma 

compensation expense related to grants made prior to April 1, 1995. Pro forma 

information in future years will reflect the amortization of 




a l a r g e r  n u m e r  o f  s t o c k  o p t i o n s  granced i n  s e v e r a i  s u c c e e d i n g  y e a r s .  The 
Company's p r o  forma informatlion 1s  a s  fo l lows:  

Years Ended March 31 ,  (in m i l l i o n s l  1997  

N e t  l o s s  
A s  reported  
Pro forma 

Net l o s s  per share 
As reported  
Pro forna 

The f a i r  v a l u e  of each o p t i o n  g r a n t  i s  e s t i m a t e d  on t h e  d a t e  of g r a n t  
us ing  t h e  Black-Scholes  o p t i o n - p r i c i n g  model w i t h  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  weigh ted  average  
assumptions:  e x p e c t e d  v o l a t i l i t y  of  63.3%: an e x p e c t e d  l i f e  o f  4 . 3 3  y e a r s ;  
r i s k - f r e e  i n t e r e s t  r a t e  of  6 .31% i n  1997 and 5.96% i n  1996; and n o  expec ted  
d i v i d e n d s .  

These assumptions r e s u l t e d  i n  weighted-average f a i r  v a l u e s  of $ 6 . 3 4  and 
$5 .62  p e r  s h a r e  f o r  s t o c k  o p t i o n s  g r a n t e d  i n  1997 and 1996, r e s p e c t i v e l y .  

The f o l l o w i n g  t a b l e  summarizes i n f o r m a t i o n  a b o u t  o p t i o n s  o u t s t a n d i n g  a t  
March 31. i997:  

STOCK PURCHASE PLAN 

The Company e s t a b l i s h e d  a s t o c k  p u r c h a s e  p l a n  ( t h e  "Purchase  P lan")  
under which employees, o t h e r  t h a n  o f f i c e r s ,  may p u r c h a s e  s h a r e s  o f  t h e  Company's 
Comon Stock .  The purchase  p r i c e  p e r  s h a r e  is 85% o f  t h e  lower o f  t h e  market 
v a l u e  p e r  s h a r e  o f  Common Stock determined a s  o f  t h e  b e g i n n m g  o r  end of t h e  
six-month p u r c h a s e  p e r i o d  s p e c i f i e d  i n  t h e  Purchase  P l a n .  The i n i t i a l  purchase 
p e r i o d  began A p r i l  16,  1992. Through A p r i l  15 ,  1997, t h e  end o f  t h e  t e n t h  
purchase p e r i o d ,  a t o t a l  of  74,769 s h a r e s  have been  a c q u i r e d  by  employees 
through t h e  Purchase  P l a n .  At March 31, 1997, t h e  Company had 75,231 s h a r e s  
a v a i l a b l e  f o r  f u t u r e  i s s u a n c e  under t h e  Purchase  P l a n .  

PREFERRED STOCK 

The Company h a s  1,000,000 s h a r e s  of  a u t h o r i z e d  p r e f e r r e d  s t o c k .  None of  
t h e  p r e f e r r e d  s t o c k  h a s  been i s s u e d .  As d i s c u s s e d  below, 200,000 s h a r e s  a r e  
r e s e r v e d  f o r  u s e  i n  t h e  Company's s h a r e h o l d e r  r i g h t s  p l a n .  

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN 

I n  A p r i l  1995, t h e  Board of D i r e c t o r s  a d o p t e d  a s h a r e h o l d e r  r i g h t s  p l a n  
pursuan t  t o  which h o l d e r s  of  Comon Stock o u t s t a n d i n g  on May 8,  1995 have been 
g r a n t e d  one P r e f e r r e d  Share  Purchase Right  ( a  "Right" )  on e a c h  o u t s t a n d i n g  s h a r e  
of Common Stock .  Each Right  e n t i t l e s  t h e  r e g i s t e r e d  h o l d e r  t o  p u r c h a s e  one 
one-hundredth o f  a s h a r e  of  a new s e r i e s  of  J u n i o r  P a r t i c i p a t i n g  P r e f e r r e d  Stock 
(200,000 s h a r e s  authorized) at an e x e r c i s e  p r i c e  o f  



$70.00, subject to certain adjustments, upon tk.e occurrence of certain events. 

The Rights will be exerclsable only ~f a person, c?r group, acquires 15B, or 

more, of the Common Stock, or announces a tender offer for the Company, the 

consummatlon of which would result in ownership by a person, or group, of 15%, 

or more, of the Company's Common Stock. The Rights may be redeemed, at a 

redemption prlce of one cent per right, by the Soard of Directors of the Company 

at any rime wlthrn ten cays after a person, or group, has acquired beneficial 

ownership of 158, or more, of the Company's Common Stock. The Riqhts will expire 

on May 7, 2005. 


If, after the rrghts become exerclsable, the Company 1s acquired in a 

merger, or other such transaction, or sells 50%, or more, of its assets or 

earnlngs power, each right will entltle its holder to purchase the acquiring 

company's common shares naving a vaiue of twlce the Right's exercise prlce. In 

addition, if a person, or group, acquires 15%, or more, of the Company's 

outstanding Common Stock, each Right will entitle its holder (other than the 

acquirorl to purchase a number of the Company's common shares having a value of 

twice the Right's exercise prlce. 


11. COLLABORATION AGREEMENTS: 

CORIXA 

On December 22, 1995, the Company signed a technology-~ased, multi-year 
research collaboration ana iicensing agreement with Corixa Corporation. a 

Seattle-based biotechnology company. The research collaboration calls for 

CellPro to provide fundlng for a new research program to identify and optimize 

methods and conditions for the growth of, and activation, or stimulation of 

tumor-antigen-specific 1-pphocytes (white blood cells) and other 

antlgen-presenting cells ourside of the body for use In treating cancer. 


Under the aqreement, as amended January 1997. CellPro receives 

exclusive worldwide rights to all ex vivo therapy applications arrsing from 

Corixa's technology within the field of oncology and co-exclusive rights to 

dendritic cell vaccines that incorporate Corixa's technology. CeliPro will be 

responsible for the clinical development and commercial introduction of any 

products resulting from this agreement. Subject to certain conditions, CellPro 

will provide Corixa with annual research funding and will make additional 

milestone and royalty payments based on the successful development and 

commercialization of these products. The amount of research funding wrll be 

negotiated annually, subject to certain minimums. 


CORANGE 


On July 31, 1995, CellPro and its former corporate partner, Corange, 

reached a definitive agreement to conclude their collaboration entered into 

during December 1993. Under the new agreement, Corange paid CellPro $24 million 

in exchange for one million newly Issued shares of CellPro Common Stock and $6 

nillion for prior research and development services. In addition, CellPro agreed 

to supply Corange, on a non-exclusive basis, wlth cell separation systems for 

use in the field of gene medicine. All rights to CellPro's technology previously 

licensed to Corange have been returned to CellPro, The agreements have been 

terminated. and the two companies have exchanged releases in settlement of all 

claims relating to the 1993 agreements. Product sales to Corange approximated 

SlO0,OOO and $85,000 in 1997 and 1996, respectively. 


12. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: 


The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 1996 and 

1997 approximates fair vaiue. 


The aggregate fair value, based on market quotes, of the Company's 

securities available for sale at March 31, 1997 was $39.0 million as compared to 

its carrying value of $39.1 mlllion. The aggregate fair value of the Company's 

securities available for sale at March 31, 1996 was $57.1 million as compared to 

its carrying value of $57.2 million. 


The carrying value of the Company's debt approximates fair value at 

March 31, 1997. 




The fair value of the other liabilities has been estimated at $940,000, 

compared to its balance sheet carrying value of $1,196,710 at March 31, 1997. 


13. FEDERAL INCOME TAXES: 


At March 31, 1997, the Company had accumulated net operatmg loss 

carryforwards of approximately $96.4 mlllion which expire through 2012. The 

Company also has cumulative research and development tax credit carryforwards of 

approximately $3.5 million which expire through 2012. Differences between the 

tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial statement amounts are 

reflected as deferred income taxes based on enacted tax rates. The principal 

differences in bases result from differing depreciation methods and the changes 

in various accrued liabilities. The accumulated net operating loss and research 

and development credit carryforwards and the differences between tax and 

financial reporting bases result in deferred income tax assets of approximately 

$45.4 million which have been reduced by a valuation allowance of an equal 

amount. 


The Company's ability to use its net operating losses to offset future 

taxable income is sukqect to restrictions enacted in the U.S. Internal Revenue 

Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). These restrictions could limit the 

Company's future use of its net operating losses if certain stock ownership 

changes described in the Code occur. 


14. TECHNOLOGY AGREEMENTS: 


The Company has entered into several licensing agreements granting it 

rights to utilize core technology for cell separation and certain antibodies. 

These agreements require payments of up-front fees upon execution and royalty 

payments in varying amounts for sales of licensed products for periods of up to 

17 years. Payments relating to technology agreements are expensed as incurred. 


15. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN: 


The Company sponsors an Employee Retirement Plan in accordance with 

Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this Plan, at the discretion 

of the Board of Directors, the Company may match a portion of the employees' 

contr~butions. No Company contributions have been made to the Plan as of March 

31, 1997. 




16. GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENT INFORMATION: 


The Company markets its products internationally through wholly-owned 

subsidiaries located in Europe and through independent distributors in other 

export markets. U.S. revenues in the followmg table include U.S. export sales 

to customers in foreign countries of $864,000 in 1 9 9 7  and $423,000 in 1996. A 
summary of the Company's operations by geographic area follows: 


Revenues : 
Product sales revenue: 


U.S. 

Transfers between geographic areas 


Contract revenue 

Related party revenue 


Total U.S. 

Europe 

Eliminations 


Consolidated revenues 


Geoqrapnic Assets: 

U.S. 

Europe 

Eliminations 


General corporate assets (principally 

cash and investments) 


Consolidated assets 


ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 


Not applicable. 




PART I11 


ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 


The information required by this item concerning the Company's 

directors and executive officers is included under the caption "Proposal One 

Election of Directors-Nominees" of the Company's 1997 Notice of Annual Meeting 

of Stockholders and Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 


ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 


The information required by this item is included under the caption 

"Proposal One - Election of Directors - Executive Compensation and Other 
Information" of the Company's 1997 Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and 

Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 


ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 


The information required by this item is included under the caption 

"Record Date, Voting and Share Ownership" of the Company's 1997 Notice of Annual 

Meetlng of Stockholders and Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 

reference. 


ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 


The information required by this item is included under the caption 

"Proposal One - Election of Directors - Executive Compensation and Other 
Information" of the Company's 1997 Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and 

Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. 


PART IV 


ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 


(A)(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements under 
Item 8 of this Form 10-K. 

(A)(2) FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

Not applicable 

REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 

Not applicable 



------- 

EXHIBITS 


Number Exhibit 


Restated Certificate of Incorporaclon. 

Bylaws, as amended. 

Certificate of Deslgnatlons of Serles A Junlor Part~cipating Preferred Stock of the 

Company flled w:th the Secretary o r  State of Delaware on May 4, 1995. 
Reference is made to Exhibit 3.1. 

Reference is made to Exhibit 3.2. 

Conformed copy of Rights Agreement dated as of April 21, 1995 between the Company and 

American Stock Transfer Company. 

1989 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreements thereunder. 

1991 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and form of agreement thereunder. 

Industrial Real Estate Lease dated as of June 26, 1989, by and between the Company and 

Newplex 11, with all amendments thereto. 

Exclusive License Agreement dated as of May 11, 1990, by and between the Company and 

the University of Washington. 

Amended and Restated Antibody License Agreement dated as of 

August 16, 1991, by and between the Company and the Fred 

Hutchinson Cancer Research Center including First Amendment 

to Restated Antibody License Agreement entered into as of 

April 7, 1993. 

Technoloqy Llcense Agreement dated as of March 23, 1989, by 

and between che Company and the Fred Hutchlnson Cancer 

Research Center :r.cluding First Amendment to Technology 

License Agreement entered into as of April 7, 1993. 

Form of Indemnrfication Agreement. 

Lease dated November 7, 1991, by and between the Company and Canyon Park Joint 

Venture I. 

First Amendment to Lease, dated November 1, 1992, by and between the Company and 

NewPlex 11. 

Lease, dated February 24, 1993, by and between the Company and Canyon Park Joint 

Venture TI. 

Lease, dated February 24, 1993, by and between the Company and Canyon Park Joint 

Venture I1 and WRC Properties, Inc. 

Stock Purchase Agreement dated December 3, 1993 between CellPro, Incorporated and 

Coranqe International Limited. 

Registration Rights Agreement dated December 3, 1993 between CellPro and Corange. 

Standstrll Agreement dated December 3, 1993 between CellPro and Corange. 

Equipment lease dated March 15, 1994 between the Company and Lease Partners 

Corporation and related Equipment Schedule. 

Sublease Aqreement between the Company ana Prolinx, inc. dated May 3, 1995. 

Aqreement between the Company and Corange International Limited dated April 29, 1995. 

Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement dated July 31, 1995 between CellPro and 

Corange. 
Amendments to Standst111 Agreement dated July 31. 1995 between CellPro and Corange. 

Llmited Release by CellPro dated July 31, 1995. 

Amended ana Restated Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 31, 1995 between CellPro and 

Corange. 
Termination Agreement dated July 31, 1995 between CellPro and Coranqe. 
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Number 


Supply Aareement dated July 31, 1995 between CellPro and Coranqe. 
Limited Release by Corange dated ;uly 31, 1995 .  
Subsidiaries of the Company. 

Consenr of Independent Accouncancs. The consenr set forth on page 61 is incorporated 

hereln oy reference. 

Power of Attorney. The Power of Attorney set forth on page 60 is Incorporated herein 

by reference. 

Financial Data Schedule. 




(1) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with the Company's 

Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-4212) declared effective by the 

Securities and Exchange Commlsslon (the "SEC") on September 24, 1991. 


(2I Incorporated herein by reference from an exhibit to the Company's 
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19472) filed with the SEC on June 26, 

1992. 


(3) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with the Company's 

Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 33-56960) declared effective by the 

SEC on February 12, 1993. 


(4) Certain portions of this Exhibit were granted confidential treatment 

pursuant to an order from the SEC. 


(5) Certain portions of this exhibit are incorporated by reference from an 

exhibit filed with the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 

33-4212) declared effective by the SEC on September 24, 1991. 


(61 Incorporated herein by reference from an exhibit to the Company's 
annual report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19472) filed with the SEC June 28, 1993 


( 7 )  Incorporated by reference from an exhibit to Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC on March 17, 1994. 


(8) Incorporated herein by reference from an exhibit to the Company's 

annual report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19472) filed with the SEC June 28, 1994 


(9) Incorporated by reference from an exhiblt to Form 8-A filed wlth the 

SEC on May 4, 1995. 


(10) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit to the Company's annual 

report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19472) filed with the SEC on June 28, 1995. 


(11) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit to the Company's quarterly 

report on Form 10Q (File No. 0-19472) for the quarter ended December 31, 1995 

filed with the SEC on February 13, 1996. 


* Filed herewith. 
* *  This item is a compensatory plan required to be listed as an exhibit to this 
form pursuant to Item 601(a) (10) (iii) of Regulation S-K. 


NOTE: THE GRAPHIC PORTION OF THE CELLPRO LOGO, THE CELLPRO NAME AND THE WORD 

CEPRATE ARE ALL REGISTERED TRADEMARKS OF CELLPRO. 




SIGNATURES 


PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS O F  SECTION 13 OR 15(d) O F  THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, REGISTRANT HAS DULY CAUSED THIS REPORT TO BE SIGNED ON ITS 

BEHALF BY THE UNDERSIGNED, THEREUNTO DULY AUTHORIZED, IN BOTHELL, WASHINGTON ON 
THIS 26TH DAY OF JUNE, 1997.  

CELLPRO, INCORPORATED 


BY: / s /  Richard D. Murdock 
RICHARD D. MURDOCK 

PRESIDENT, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DIRECTOR 




----- ---- 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 


KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature 

appears below constitutes and appoints Richard D. Murdock and Larry G. Culver -
and each of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full 

power of substitution and resubstitutlon, for him and in his name, place and 

stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including 

post-effective amendments) to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, 

with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and 
agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and 

every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, 

as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby 

ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of 

them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be 

done by virtue hereof. 


PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 

THIS REPORT HAS BEEN SIGNED BY THE FOLLOWING PERSONS IN THE CAPACITIES AND ON 

THE DATES INDICATED: 


Name T i t l e  D a t e  

/s/ R i c h a m  D. M u r d o c k  P r e s i d e n t ,  C h i e f  E x e c u t i v e  O f f i c e r  a n d  D i r e c t o r  J u n e  2 6 ,  1 9 9 7  ............................ ( P r i n c i p a l  E x e c u t i v e  O f f i c e r )  
( R i c h a r d  D. M u r d o c k )  

/s/ L a r r y  G. C u l v e r  E x e c u t i v e  V i c e  P r e s i d e n t ,  C h i e f  O p e r a t l n g  J u n e  2 6 ,  1997 ............................ O f f i c e r .  C h i e f  F i n a n c i a l  O f f i c e r ,  A s s i s t a n t  
( L a r r y  G. C u l v e r )  S e c r e t a r y  a n d  D i r e c t o r  [ P r i n c i p a l  F i n a n c i a l  a n d  

Accounting O f f i c e r )  

/s/ J o s e p h  S .  L a c o b  C h a i r m a n  o f  t h e  B o a r d  J u n e  2 6 ,  1 9 9 7  ........................... 

( J o s e p h  S. L a c o b )  

/s/ K e n n e t h  W. A n s t e y  D i r e c t o r  J u n e  2 6 ,  1 9 9 7  

( K e n n e t h  W. A n s t e y )  

/ 9 /  J o s h u a  L. G r e e n  J u n e  26 ,  1 9 9 7  

( J o s h u a  L. G r e e n )  

/ s /  C h a r l e s  P .  W a i t e ,  Jr. D i r e c t o r  J u n e  2 6 .  1 9 9 7  ............................ 

( C h a r l e s  P. W a i t e ,  Z r .  i 



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 


The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

CellPro, Incorporated 


We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of 

CellPro, Incorporated on Form S-8 (filed No. 33-71478) of our report dated May 

13, 1997, on our audits of the consolidated financial statements of CellPro, 

Incorporated as of March 31, 1997 and 1996 and for the years ended March 31, 

1997, 1996 and 1995, which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 

10-K. 


COOPERS & LYBRAND, L.L.P. 
Seattle, Washington 

June 25, 1997 




------- 

EXHIBIT INDEX 


Exhibit 


Restated Certificate of Incorporation. 

Bylaws, as amended. 

Certificate of Oesignatlons of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the 

Company filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on May 4, 1995. 

Reference is made to Exhlbit 3.1. 

Reference is made to Exhlblt 3 . 2 .  
Conformed copy of Rights Aqreement dated as of April 21, 1995 between the Company and 

Amerlcan Stock Transfer Company. 

1989 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreements thereunder. 

1991 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ana form of agreement thereunder. 

Industrial Real Estate Lease dated as of June 26. 1989, by and becween the Company and 

Newplex 11, w ~ t h  all amendments thereto. 

Exclusive License Agreement dated as of May 11, 1990, by and between the Company and 

the University of Washington. 

Amended and Restated Antibody License Agreement dated as of 

August 16, 1991, by and between the Company and the Fred 

Hutchinson Cancer Research Center including First Amendment 

to Restated Antibody License Agreement entered into as of 

April 7. 1993. 

Technology License Agreement dated as of March 23, 1909, by 

and between the Company and the Fred Hutchlnson Cancer 

Research Center lncludlng First Amendment to Technology 

License Aqreement entered Into as of April 7, 1993. 

Form of Indemniflcatlon Agreement. 

Lease dated November 7, 1991, by and between the Company and Canyon Park Joint 

Venture I. 

First Amendment to Lease, dated November 1, 1992, by and between the Company and 

NewPlex 11. 

Lease, dated February 24, 1993, by and between the Company and Canyon Park Joint 

Venture 11. 

Lease, dated February 24, 1993, by and between the Company and Canyon Park Joint 

Venture I1 and WRC Properties, Inc. 

Stock Purchase Aqreemenc darea December 3, 1993 between CellPro, incorporated and 

Coranqe International Limited. 

Registration Rights Agreement dated December 3, 1993 between CellPro and Corange. 

Standsrill Agreement dated December 3, 1993 between CellPro and Corange. 

Equipment lease dated March 15, 1994 between the Company and Lease Partners 

Corporation and related Equipment Schedule. 

Sublease Aqreement between the Company and Prolinx. Inc. dated May 3, 1995. 

Agreement between the Company and Corange International Limited dated Aprll 29, 1995. 

Amendment to Reqistratlon Rights Agreemenr: dated July 31, 1995 between CellPro and 

Coranqe. 

Amendments to Standstill Aqreement dared July 31, 1995 between CellPro and Coranqe. 

Limited Release by CellPro dated July 31, 1995. 

Amended ana Restated Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 31. 1995 between CellPro and 

corange. 
Termlnatlon Agreement dated July 31, 1995 between CellPro and Coranqe. 



S u p p l y  Aqreenen t  d a t e d  J u l y  31, 1995 b e t w e e n  C e l l P r o  a n a  Corange.  
L imted  R e l e a s e  by Ccrange  d a t e d  J u l y  31 ,  1 9 9 5 .  
S u b s l d l a r ~ e s  o f  t h e  Company. 
Consen t  o f  I n d e p e n a e n t  Accountants. The c o n s e n t  set f o r t h  on page  6 1  z s  I n c o r p o r a t e d  
h e r e l n  by r e f e r e n c e .  
Power o f  A t t o r n e y .  The Power o f  A t t o r n e y  s e t  f o r t h  on page  60 1s I n c o r p o r a t e d  h e r e l n  
by r e f e r e n c e .  
Financial Data S c h e a u l e .  



(1) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit frled with the Company's 

Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-4212) declared effective by the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on September 24, 1991. 


( 2 )  Incorporated herein by reference from an exhibit to the Company's 
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19472) filed with the SEC on June 26, 

1992. 


(3) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit filed with the Company's 

Registration Statement on Form 5 - 3  (File No. 33-56960) declared effective by the 
SEC on February 12, 1993. 


(4 Certain portions of this Exhibit were granted confidential treatment 

pursuant to an order from the SEC. 


(5) Certain portions of this exhibit are incorporated by reference from an 

exhibit filed with the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 

33-4212) declared effect~ve by the SEC on September 24, 1991. 


( 6 )  Incorporated herein by reference from an exhibit to the Company's 
annual report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19472) filed with the SEC June 28, 1993 


( 7 )  Incorporated by reference from an exhibit to Form 8-K filed with the 
SEC on March 17, 1994. 


( 8 )  Incorporated herein by reference from an exhibit to the Company's 
annual report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19472) filed with the SEC June 28, 1994 


(9) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit to Form 8-A filed with the 

SEC on May 4, 1995. 


(10) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit to the Company's annual 

report on Form 10-K (File No. 0-19472) filed with the SEC on June 28, 1995. 


(11) Incorporated by reference from an exhibit to the Company's quarterly 

report on Form 10Q (File No. 0-19472) for the quarter ended December 31, 1995 

filed with the SEC on February 13, 1996. 


* Filed herewith. 
** This item is a compensatory plan required to be listed as an exhibit to this 
form pursuant to Item 601(a) (10) (lii) of Regulation S-K. 


NOTE: THE GRAPHIC PORTION OF THE CELLPRO LOGO, THE CELLPRO NAME AND THE WORD 
CEPRATE ARE ALL REGISTERED TRADEMARKS OF CELLPRO. 




Company: CELLPRO INCORPORATED 

Form Type: 10-K SEC File # :  000-19472 
Document Type: EX-21 

Description: SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 

Received Date: 06/26/97 

Received Time: 17:01:39 


LIVEDGAR Information Provided By: 

GSI ONLINE 


A division of Global Securities Information, Inc. 


Washington, DC New York, NY Chicago, IL 

Los Angeles, CA Columbus, OH Dallas, TX 


For Additional Information About LIVEDGAR, Call 

1-800-669-1154 


or Visit Us on the World Wide Web at 

http://www.gsionline.com 




EXHIBIT 21 


LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF CELLPRO, INCORPORATED 


Cellpro Europe N.V./S.A., a Belgian corporation 


CellPro France S.A.R.L., a French corporation 


CellPro Deutschland GmbH, a German corporation 


Cellpro 11, Inc., a Washington corporation 


CellPro Italia s.r.l., an Italian corporation 


CellPro Biotech Iberica, S.L., a Spanish corporation 


CellPro Asia-Pacific Pty., Ltd., an Australian corporation 
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<ARTICLE> 5 

<LEGEND> 

THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM (A) THE 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS OF MARCH 31, 1997 AND THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 

OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 1997.AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY 

BY REFERENCE TO SUCH [ B )  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

YEAR 

MAR-31-1997 

APR-01-1996 

MAR-31-1997 


15,053 

38,990 

3,159 


0 

5,078 

62,829 

25,047 

11,863 

76,124 

21,993 


0 

0 

0 

14 


52,767 

76,124 

9,516 

9,662 

5,161 

5,161 

48,623 


0 

46 


(40,915) 

0 



